AMERICAN ZOO AND AQUARIUM ASSOCIATION ANTELOPE TAXONOMIC ADVISORY GROUP

# ANTELOPE HUSBANDRY MANUAL REDUNCINAE



Editor Gloria Kendall Consulting Editor Randy Rieches

ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SAN DIEGO at the SAN DIEGO WILD ANIMAL PARK For copies of this manual please contact San Diego Wild Animal Park at rrieches@sandiegozoo.org

> 1<sup>st</sup> edition May 1999

cover photo Uganda Kob Kobus kob thomasi

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

General Characteristics	4
Veterinary Care	6
Nutrition	9
Captive Management	10
Housing and Enclosure Requirements	12
Behavior and Social Organization	15
Reproduction and Ontogeny	19
Assisted Reproduction Techniques	20
Contraception	21
Hand rearing	21
Role of Keeper in Animal Management	28
In Situ Programs	29
References	29
Acknowledgments	30
Bibliography	32

## REDUNCINAE

## **1. General Characteristics**

## Waterbucks: wt. 240 (200-300)kg. Males wt. 180 (160-200)kg. Females ht. 125 (120-136) cm.

- **Defassa Waterbuck** *Kobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici* Matschie, 1906 The color is variable, ranging from silver-gray, through bright rufous to a very dark brown. It has a white blaze on the rump.
- **Common Waterbuck** *Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus* (Ogilby, 1833) Coarse coat with long shaggy hair on the neck. Color is very variable, commonly a grizzled gray with a distinctive white elliptical ring encircling the rump.

## Lechwe:

Nile Lechwe Kobus Megaceros Fitzinger, 1855Wt. 86 kg.Ht. 94 cm.Males possess a long rough coat of dark chocolate color with a distinctive<br/>white patch on the nape of the neck and shoulders. Females are solid<br/>rufous-colored.

#### Lechwe: Kobus leche Gray 1850

Wt. 127 kg.

Ht. 99 cm.

Long rough coat of bright chestnut to blackish color, with contrasting white underparts.

**Red Lechwe** (a.k.a. Zambezi Lechwe) *Kobus leche leche* Gray, 1850 Body color is dull yellowish brown, with legs dark brown or black.

- Kafue Flats Lechwe Kobus leche kafuensis Haltenorth, 1963 Front of forelegs black reaching to upper legs and front of shoulders.
- Black Lechwe *Kobus leche smithemani* Gray, 1850 Blackish brown on the back and sides.

Kob:	wt. 94 (85-121) kg. males	wt. 63 (60-77) kg. females
	ht. 90-100 cm. males	ht. 82-92 cm. females

- **Buffon's Kob** *Kobus kob kob* (Erxleben, 1777) Short glossy coat generally a bright gold fulvous color.
- **Uganda Kob** (a.k.a. Thomas's Kob) *Kobus kob thomasi* Sclater, 1864 Body is almost uniformly light reddish brown, with white areas about the eyes, above the hooves, and on the underparts, and stripes of black on the fronts of the lower legs.

## ISIS LISTINGS Page reproduced from ISIS Mammalian Taxonomy, June 1991

#### 14 MAMMALIA 1419 ARTIODACTYLA 1419009 BOVIDAE

## MAMMALS **EVEN-TOED UNGULATES COWS, ANTELOPES, SHEEP, GOATS**

Kobus ellipsiprymnus (no subsp) Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus Kobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici Kobus ellipsiprymnus annectens Kobus ellipsiprymnus crawshaii Kobus ellipsiprymnus defassa Defassa Waterbuck Kobus ellipsiprymnus harnieri Kobus ellipsiprymnus kondensis Kobus ellipsiprymnus pallicus Kobus ellipsiprymnus penricei Kobus ellipsiprymnus thikae Kobus ellipsiprymnus tjaderi Kobus ellipsiprymnus iscadensis Kobus ellipsiprymnus unctuosus Kobus kob (no subsp) Kobus kob kob Kobus kob adolfi Kobus kob alurae Kobus kob bahr-keetae Kobus kob leucotis Kobus kob loderi Kobus kob newmanni Kobus kob riparia Kobus kob thomasi Kobus kob ubangiensis Kobus leche (no subsp) Kobus leche leche Kobus leche kafuensis Kobus leche smithemani Kobus megaceros Kobus vardoni Kobus vardoni vardoni Kobus vardoni senganus

Waterbuck Common Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Common Waterbuck Common Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Common Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Defassa Waterbuck Kob **Buffons Kob** Kob Kob Kob White-eared Kob Kob Kob Kob Kob Kob Lechwe Red Lechwe Kafue Flats Lechwe Black Lechwe Nile Lechwe Puku Puku Senga Kob

Central Cameroon-Senegal Angola-Mozambique Northeast Tanzania Central African Republic Southeast Congo, Zambia Central + south Ethiopia Uganda, Sudan S. Tanzania, Ne. Tanzania Somalia Angola - Gabon Northeast Tanzania West Kenya Chad Central Cameroon-Senegal Northwest Congo Senegal-northwest Nigeria Chad Region Nw Uganda, so. Sudan Central Shari Region South Sudan, sw Ethiopia Se. Nigeria, s. Cameroun W. Uganda, Ne. Congo West Africa West Kenya, east Uganda Northwest Congo Zambia Zambia, Angola, zaire Zambia Northern Zimbabwe Africa Africa Congo, Botswana, Angola Zambia, Malawi, Tanzania

#### 1419009019

## **REDUNCA**

1419009019001001 Redunca arundinum 1419009019001002 1419009019001003 1419009019002001 Redunca fulvorufula 1419009019002002 Redunca fulvorufula 1419009019002003 Redunca fulvorufula 1419009019002004 1419009019003001 Redunca redunca 1419009019003002 1419009019003003 1419009019003004 1419009019003005 1419009019003006 1419009019003007 Redunca redunca tohi 1419009019003008

Redunca arundinum arundinum Redunca arundinum occidentalis Redunca fulvorufula chanleri Redunca redunca redunca Redunca redunca bohor Redunca redunca cottoni Redunca redunca dianae Redunca redunca nigeriensis Redunca redunca wardi

### REEDBUCK

Reedbuck Reedbuck Reedbuck Mountain Reedbuck Mt. Reedbuck Mt. Reedbuck Mt. Reedbuck Bohor Reedbuck

Africa (southern Savanna) Angola - Mozambique Gabon - Tanzania Central Africa South Africa Northern Cameroun Tanzania - Ethiopia Uganda, Tanzania Senegal - Togo Ethiopia Southern Sudan Northeast Congo Nigeria, cent. Africa Rep. Se. Kenya, E. Tanzania Uganda, Tanzania

## 2. Veterinary Care

### **Chemical immobilization:**

<b>Recommended drugs:</b>	Carfentanil	narcotic
_	M-99	narcotic
	Ketamine	as a supplement
	Isoflurane inhalant	as a supplement

There are many variables which must be considered when determining proper dosage (age, weight, and physical condition to name a few). A list of sample dosages and more general information on chemical immobilization is available in several books.<sup>1</sup>

Whenever possible, the animal to be immobilized should be shifted from the larger outside exhibit to a smaller adjoining catch pen or inside night quarters prior to darting.

In large multi-species exhibits where it is not possible to shift the animal into a catch pen, care must be taken to protect the darted animal from aggression from conspecifics (particularly males). Also special care must be given to guard areas with water features such as ponds or wallows during chemical immobilizations, as some members of Reduncinae (especially waterbuck and lechwe) tend to flee toward the water after being darted, presenting the danger of drowning. If possible, avoid doing a chemical immobilization during the warmest part of the day. Lechwe often do a lot of running after being darted, increasing the risk of hyperthermia and capture myopathy. Symptoms of these conditions can include panting, unresponsiveness, and inability to stand after immobilization. If these symptoms are present, immediate steps should be taken to cool the animal (such as moving the animal to the shade or a cooler area, hosing the animal with cool water, and cool water enema.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>DISEASES OF EXOTIC ANIMALS, Joel Wallach D.V.M. and William Boever D.V.M. pgs. 222-223, 226, 229.

An eyedrape or towel should be placed over the animals eyes once you have "hands on" to protect the eyes and reduce stress. Protective hoses may be placed on the horn tips for the duration of the procedure to prevent injury to personnel.

## **Neonatal examinations:**

A neonatal exam should include a check of the heart and lungs, feet and legs (for deformities), palate (for cleft palate deformities), umbilicus should be soaked with 3% iodine (check for herniation or deformities), BOVA-S (immunoglobulin status), glucose, temperature, weight, state of hydration. A neonatal exam is typically when animals are given their permanent identifications (earnotch, tag, microchip, etc.)

## **Parasites:**

In temperate climates, worming in the Fall and Spring may be most effective by taking advantage of cold weather to kill parasite larvae and to reduce infestations during warmer weather.<sup>2</sup> Fecal examination and treatment should be made at least twice annually, and more frequently if the animals are kept on pasture.<sup>3</sup>

In large multi-species exhibits, fecal screening and treatment may be done on a quarterly basis with fecal samples collected one week prior and one week following a scheduled worming to monitor efficacy of treatment. Any additional screenings may be done as needed and should be requested if an animal displays symptoms characteristic of parasitic infestation (i.e. loose stools, stools containing visible tapeworm segments, facial swelling, weight loss, lethargy.)

## Commonly observed parasites and recommended treatments:

ecto:	ticks	removal
endo:	Coccidia	Albon

Strongyles ------These parasites may be treated withNematodirus -----Ivermectin when you have "hands on"Trichoris ------the animal. Otherwise the quarterly worming medication may be milled intothe alfalfa pellet.4

In large multi-species exhibits, hay may be withheld for four days while animals are offered only the medicated alfalfa pellet. The amount of pellet fed out should be increased to compensate for the lack of hay.<sup>5</sup>

## **Physiological norms:**

See footnote for information on heart and respiratory rates and blood chemistries.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>3</sup>Russell Smith, et al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Randy Fulk, PH.D., North Carolina Zoological Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>O.H. Kruse Grain and Milling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park

## **Common injuries and treatments:**

fractures, lacerations, gore wounds, dystocias

Some members of this subfamily, particularly waterbuck and lechwe, tend to be extremely nervous and flighty when separated from familiar surroundings for treatment or other reasons, necessitating the use of tranquilizers to calm the animals. Recommended drugs for this include:

Haloperidol .....short duration Haldol Decanoate ....long duration Trilafon .....long duration

### Other recommended routine medical procedures:

Hoof trimming may be done as needed if hooves appear abnormally long or are causing lameness.

Pre-shipment/Quarantine: Specific tests may vary depending on destination of animal but generally will include: CBC, CHEM, R/C, TB, Brucellosis, *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* (Johnes), and fecal sample for parasite check. Also this is typically when animals are given their permanent identifications (earnotch, tag, microchip, etc.)

Life span:	Lechwe	10-12 years
	Waterbuck, Kob	16-18 years

#### **Post mortem protocol:**

A thorough post mortem examination (necropsy) of each animal that dies in the facility, by a veterinarian, preferably a veterinary pathologist, provides valuable information not only on the cause of death for that animal, but also on any other concurrent medical problems. Often these problems, such as parasites, nutritional deficiencies, or dental disease, may be present in the animal collection without causing any obvious symptoms. Their detection at postmortem examination indicate that diagnostic tests or treatment should be performed on the remaining animals before clinical symptoms or disease transmission occur.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>6</sup>DISEASES OF EXOTIC ANIMALS, Joel D. Wallach D.V.M. and William J. Boever D.V.M., pgs.. 207, 1012, 1015

ISIS PHYSIOLOGICAL DATA REFERENCE, Aug. 1996

LYNX (software package) Dept. Of Veterinary Science, Zoological Society of London, P.M. Bennett

ZOO AND WILD ANIMAL MEDICINE, Murray Fowler, pgs.. 1012, 1014

<sup>7</sup>Hinshaw, Amand, Tinkelman, 1996

## **Pathology:**

Necropsy results have shown zinc deficiency in some neonate Red Lechwe. Also there have been a significant number of umbilical hernias in Uganda Kob neonates and mortalities due to inanition (failure to nurse).<sup>8</sup>

## 3. Nutrition

Members of the subfamily Reduncinae are grazing animals and recommended diet includes: Sudan grass, Coastal Bermuda grass, and <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>" high fiber alfalfa pellet.<sup>9</sup>

Nutrient content:	Crude protein, not less than	14%
	Crude fat, not less than	3.0%
	Crude fiber, not more than	21%
	Ash, not more than	10.0%

Daily feeding with food delivered in the early morning will allow the animals free choice to follow their natural inclination to eat in the early morning and late afternoon hours. The number of feeding and watering sites will be determined by the group size and composition. Regular observations should be made to determine if multiple feeding and watering sites are required, to insure adequate access to all individuals. To minimize fecal contamination and ingestion of sand and dirt, all hays should be fed in racks or feeders above the ground.

Fresh water should be available at all times in both indoor and outdoor areas.

In large multi-species exhibits there is very little control over food intake. Consequently the grazing animals will also have access to low fiber herbivore pellet intended for the browsers and other hays (oat, alfalfa, etc.) in addition to their recommended dietary items.

## Maintenance diet for one adult animal:

Waterbuck -	3 qt. (1800 g)	$\frac{1}{2}$ " high fiber herbivore pellet
	1/4 flake (887	g) Sudan grass hay
	1/4 flake (887	g) Coastal Bermuda grass hay

- **Nile Lechwe** 1½ qts. (900 g) ½" high fiber herbivore pellet 1/4 flake (665 g) Coastal Bermuda grass hay
- Kob - $1 \frac{1}{2}$  qts. (900 g)  $\frac{1}{2}$ " high fiber herbivore pellet1/3 flake (887 g) Coastal Bermuda grass hay

Salt and mineral blocks should be available, ad lib.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>O.H. Kruse Grain & Milling, Mazuri® ADF-#25 Herbivore

## 4. Captive Management

## Individual identification methods:

In smaller collections small numbered eartags may be sufficient, In larger multi-species exhibits, colored eartags plus earnotching has been used successfully.<sup>10</sup> More detailed information on individual identification methods, including microchipping, has been published.<sup>11</sup>

## **Recommended crating and transport procedures:**

Ideally, exhibit design should incorporate an adjoining smaller "catch pen" into which an animal can be trapped for the purpose of crating. There should be a doorway in the corner of the catch pen leading to an alleyway. The animal is then moved down the alleyway and into a crate or trailer. It may be necessary to follow the animal down the alley with a push board to persuade it into the crate or trailer. A hand held push board may be safely used with the female kob and lechwe, also with waterbuck < 1 yr. A built in push board mounted or suspended on runners is very useful and safer for all involved, when moving adult male or larger female waterbuck.

Transport may be safely accomplished by trailer or crate. In both situations it is important to construct a crate or partition the trailer to give the animal only enough space to stand or lie down. Too much room allows the animal to turn around or jump up, potentially injuring itself. Animals will generally be less agitated if their mode of transport is dark, so holes for ventilation should be just large and numerous enough to allow adequate air flow, while limiting light. A crate or trailer may be bedded with Bermuda grass hay, and a tub for water should be fastened into place near the head end of the crate prior to loading the animal. A fill hole should be located to allow convenient watering of the animal during transport.

## **Container Requirement 73**

Reproduced with permission of IATA, Mr. Daniel Lebrun, Assistant Director, Marketing & Sales. (The following general IATA information has been slightly modified to reflect the special needs of shipping members of the subfamily Reduncinae.)



## **Container construction**

**Materials:** wood or metal and rubber, burlap or canvas for padding and light reduction, if required.

**Dimension:** The height and width of the container must allow the animal to stand erect with its head extended, even if horned. The size of the container must sufficiently restrict movement so that the animal cannot turn around and in so doing trap or injure itself, nor have space to kick and damage the container. The dimensions will vary according to the species being shipped.

Frame: Must be made of 2.5 cm (1 in) solid wood or metal parts, bolted or screwed together.

When the weight of the container plus animal exceeds 60 kg (132 lbs.), additional metal bracing must be present around the whole container.

**Sides:** Suitable plywood or similar material must closely line the frame to a level slightly above the animal's eye over which there must be an area with a series of holes (no bigger than 2" in diameter) for ventilation extending to the roof. The interior must be completely smooth.

**Floor:** The base must be solid and leak-proof, there must be either pegboard or slats bolted to the solid base to give a firm foothold. A droppings tray must be provided under the pegboard or slats to prevent excreta escaping.

**Doors:** Hinged or sliding entry and exit doors must be provided. They must be fastened in such a way that they cannot be accidently opened. They must have similar ventilation openings as on the sides.

**Ventilation:** Two rows of ventilation holes, with a minimum diameter of (1 inch) 2.5 cm must be present, above eye level, on all four sides.

**Spacer Bars/Handles:** Must be made to a depth of 2.5 cm (1 inch) and formed from the framework of the container.

**Feed and Water Containers:** Food and water containers must be provided with outside access from a hinged bolted flap that must be large enough for the entry of a water dish and/or quantities of appropriate food.

**Feeding and Watering Guide:** Animals do not normally require additional feeding or watering during 24 hours following the time of dispatch. Shipper's watering instruction must be followed. If feeding is required due to an unforseen delay, fodder must be provided but care must be taken not to overfeed.

**General Care and Loading:** It is recommended that polyethelene sheeting and absorbent material, such as wood shavings, be placed underneath the container and stapled to the sides of the container (without blocking ventilation holes) to prevent spillage of excreta.

Some animals may require tranquillizing for transportation with a long acting sedative. The name of the medication and the time of administration must be provided by the shipper and affixed to the container and that information must also accompany the Shipper's Certification.

For requirements and regulations regarding transport crate size and design, please refer to IATA, USDA, and APHIS.<sup>12</sup>

## **Pest control:**

It may be necessary to do rodent abatement, particularly in barns or night quarters. Spraying to eliminate ant infestation may be indicated as they have been known to swarm onto newborn animals.

## 5. Housing and Enclosure Requirements

## **Containment barriers:**

In a single species exhibit, members of the subfamily Reduncinae may be contained in an enclosure with a 6' fence (providing the facilities perimeter fence is 8'). The fencing should be constructed of 11 gauge woven or wire chain link.<sup>13</sup> Requirements may vary slightly from state to state.

In large multi-species exhibits other features may need to be incorporated into the design of the containment barriers, i.e. 6-8' high fence with a 3' in rigger (inside overhang), solid construction wall (block wall, concrete, etc.) depending on the other species you are "containing".

## **Shelter requirements:**

Shelter design will vary according to weather and temperature at individual institutions. Either a tree or shade structure can provide adequate shade in areas which experience high temperatures. Places which experience cold temperatures may need to provide a shelter which has a roof and three walls or indoor housing.

## Substrate/topography:

Most members of the Reduncinae are frequently found in a swampy habitat, therefore a relatively flat or slightly hilly terrain with a natural substrate is recommended.

## **Temperature/humidity requirements:**

Kobus species range over nearly all of Africa where water is abundant, and they are exposed to a wide range of climates. They can tolerate a wide range of temperatures and can be kept outside year round in many parts of North America. An exact temperature at which animals should be moved from outdoor to indoor housing cannot be mandated since a variety of factors will affect the decision to move the animals indoors. Besides temperature, other weather conditions such as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>International Air Transport Association, United States Dairy Association, Animal & Plant Health Inspection Service

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>California Department of Fish and Game

rain, sleet, sunny vs cloudy, wind conditions, availability of shelter, the length of time the weather conditions continue, acclimation, etc. are all factors in the decision to move animals indoors. Animals kept outdoors may need to be protected from frostbite in the ears, horns or feet. Animals kept outside should be given access to shade and drinking water in hot weather and shelter or windbreaks during colder months. Animals kept inside can tolerate relatively high temperatures provided a constant supply of drinking water is available, but should be protected from temperatures above 90 F if exposure is prolonged. Heat should be provided in stalls if the outside temperature falls below 45 F.<sup>14</sup>

In large multi-species exhibits lacking indoor or night quarters, special consideration must be given regarding the disposition of newborn animals, (moving Dam and calf to a heated or maternity pen, or pulling the calf to be hand-reared) especially where extreme cold nighttime temperatures are expected.

## Minimal acceptable and optimal size of enclosures:

## **Indoor facilities:**

A single animal should be provided with at least 70 sq. ft, and the size of the stall may need to be increased if the animal will be continuously confined for an extended period of time. Stall size should be increased for each animal housed in the same stall. An increase of about 50 sq. ft. per animal may be sufficient.<sup>15</sup>

## **Outdoor enclosure:**

Generally 600 sq. ft. for one animal, 800 for two, plus 200 for each additional animal is required.<sup>16</sup> Requirements may vary from state to state.

## Capture, handling, restraint facilities:

In a more "traditional" zoo exhibit it is advisable to have a smaller catch pen (which can also be the inside quarters) adjacent to the large enclosure into which the animal can be trapped or moved prior to capture and handling.

The TAMER® (a drop-floor restraint chute) has been successfully used to restrain females and subadult male waterbuck, and adult (of both gender) kob and lechwe for routine procedures such as TB testing and blood sampling.

In large multi-species exhibits, if unable to trap the target animal into a smaller catch pen, chemical immobilization may be necessary to facilitate capture.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Randy Fulk PH.D., North Carolina Zoological Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Randy Fulk PH.D., North Carolina Zoological Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>California Department of Fish and Game

## **Utilities:**

In indoor areas, natural, incandescent, or fluorescent lighting all provide adequate environments. Inside housing areas should be provided with fans or cross ventilation.<sup>17</sup>

Water drinkers should be situated so as not to interfere with the horns of the males.

## Sanitation:

Indoor quarters should be cleaned daily. The outdoor enclosures should be cleaned daily. In large multi-species exhibits where it in not possible to clean the entire enclosure, the areas around the feeding stations should be cleaned daily.

## **Special features:**

Pools or wallows for wading are advisable but not essential.

Females of these species tend to tuck their newborns for the first couple of weeks. It is important to provide some "hiding places" for them (rock or tree stump rings, creeps, thick vegetation, etc.)

Lechwe enclosures must include quiet corners and refuges, to avoid forced contacts between animals and keepers during cleaning and care operations.<sup>18</sup>

In large multi-species exhibits it is sometimes difficult to position the veterinarians close enough to dart animals during chemical immobilizations. This is particularly true of the lechwe. It would be wise to incorporate into the exhibit design a built in shooting blind (rock or tree stump ring or a wall with cutouts to shoot from, etc.) These blinds if properly positioned, may also serve as a visual barrier which is useful to reduce aggression toward lower ranking individuals.

## **Isolation from similar or the same species:**

The following hybridizations have occurred in zoological collections worldwide:

-Kobus defassa Ruppell (Defassa Waterbuck. Sing-sing Waterbuck. Northern Waterbuck)

- x *Kobus ellipsiprymnus* Ogilby (Common Waterbuck. Eastern Waterbuck)
- x *Kobus kob* Erxleben (Buffon's Kob Antelope. Kob)
- x *Kobus megaceros* Fitzinger (Saddle-back Lechwe. Nile Lechwe. Mrs. Gray's Lechwe)

-Kobus defassa unctuosus Laurillard (Western Defassa Waterbuck) x Kobus ellipsiprymnus Ogilby (Common Waterbuck. Eastern Waterbuck)

-Kobus ellipsiprymnus Ogilby (Common Waterbuck. Eastern Waterbuck) x Kobus defassa Ruppell (Defassa Waterbuck, Sing-sing Waterbuck, Northern Waterbuck)

x *Kobus defassa unctuosus* Laurillard (Western Defassa Waterbuck)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Randy Fulk PH.D., North Carolina Zoological Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Elizabetta Falchetti, 1997

-Kobus kob Erxleben (Buffon's Kob Antelope. Kob)

x *Kobus defassa* Ruppell (Defassa Waterbuck. Sing-sing Waterbuck. Northern Waterbuck)

x Kobus megaceros Fitzinger (Saddle-back Lechwe. Nile Lechwe. Mrs. Gray's Lechwe)

-Kobus leche Gray (Lechwe)

x Kobus megaceros Fitzinger (Saddle-back Lechwe. Nile Lechwe. Mrs. Gray's Lechwe)

-Kobus megaceros Fitzinger (Saddle-back Lechwe. Nile Lechwe. Mrs. Gray's Lechwe)
 x Kobus defassa Ruppell (Defassa Waterbuck. Sing-sing Waterbuck. Northern Waterbuck)
 x Kobus kob Erxleben (Buffon's Kob Antelope. Kob)
 x Kobus leche Gray (Lechwe)<sup>19</sup>

## 6. Behavior and Social Organization:

With lechwe, mixed groups of several males and females are possible. They are generally gregarious. The males are more tolerant of each other than is usually seen in other antelope. A number of males can be kept together, and given enough space, they can be kept together year round. Aggression toward young males by older, more dominant males can occur. The ability to separate or remove males during breeding season is advisable. Females are generally tolerant of each other.<sup>20</sup>

In kob, dominant males are intolerant of any other males over seven months of age. The young males are driven out of the herd at that age by the dominant male. Even in large multi-species exhibits, where there is sufficient space for these bachelor males to avoid confrontation and distance themselves from the dominant male, they still attempt to return to the main group, which results in aggressive encounters. It is therefore advisable to remove young kob males at about seven months of age.

Large herds of Defassa Waterbuck *Kobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici*, which included several adult males, have been exhibited in large multi-species exhibits. The majority of the time all of the males will stay within the female/calf herd. Occasionally dominant males will single out other males, pursue them, and drive them away from the main herd.

Within a large herd of Ellipsen Waterbuck *Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus*, their behavior differs somewhat in that dominant males are generally much less tolerant of subadult males >eight months of age.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Annie P. Gray, 1972

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Randy Fulk PH.D., North Carolina Zoological Park

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park

## Introduction of new animals:

When new animals are introduced to the facility, they should be kept in the inside quarters and taught to shift from stall to stall before they are released into an outside enclosure. New animals should have an introductory period which allows them visual and olfactory access to the existing group. This can be accomplished by housing the newcomer in the barn and using fence panels to separate it from the established group.

## Age of dispersal/removal of young:

7-8 months for males

## Introductions and removals (effect on group and group reaction):

There is very little effect on the existing group when introducing new females. The dominant herd sire should be removed before another male seven months or older is introduced into the exhibit.

## Seasonal changes in social behavior:

Subordinate males will be drawn to female groups when females come into estrus, resulting in increased aggression. Normally gregarious waterbuck and lechwe males will experience increased aggression as they spar and fight for breeding opportunities.

One or two days prior to calving, females will often become isolative in their search for a secluded place to give birth.

## Mixed species exhibit capability and recommendations:

The initial phases of setting up a mixed-species exhibit are crucial. Many species will live together compatibly once they become accustomed to each other's presence.<sup>22</sup>

*Kobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici, Kobus kob thomasi,* and *Kobus megaceros* have been successfully exhibited with the following species<sup>23</sup>: eland, white-bearded gnu, cape buffalo, sitatunga, white rhino, giraffe, topi, Thomson's gazelle, Roosevelt's gazelle, fringe-eared oryx, impala, bongo. The following exceptions are noted:

\*Grevy's Zebra herd was relocated to their own exhibit after showing aggression toward many newborns of other species.

\*Aggression occurred between the males of Zambezi and Nile Lechwe. They are no longer housed together.

\* Male Zambezi Lechwe exhibited aggression towards male Defassa Waterbuck. They are no longer housed together.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>Warren Thomas and Edward Marushka, 1996

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park, East African Exhibit - 125 sq. acres.

*Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus* have been successfully exhibited<sup>24</sup> with eland cape buffalo, blesbok, springbok, sand gazelle, giraffe, sable antelope, white rhino, white-tailed gnu, Soemmerring's gazelle, Congo buffalo, Hartmann's Mountain Zebra\*, gemsbok\*\*.

\*Occasionally zebra are aggressive toward newborn/neonatal waterbuck. \*\*One mortality of an adult male Ellipsen Waterbuck *Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus* occurred during an aggressive encounter with an adult male gemsbok *Oryx gazella gazella*.

\* Infrequent aggression was exhibited between male Ellipsen Waterbuck and male Sable Antelope and Zambezi Lechwe.

\* Male Kafue Lechwe exhibited aggression towards young Sable Antelope, and on one occasion a male rhino. Kafue Lechwe were removed from large multi-species exhibit and housed in a single species exhibit.

## Behavioral indicators of social stress, harassment, or impending social changes such as dispersal:

increased aggression (chasing, sparring, isolating individuals).

## Olfactory behavior, scent marking, flehmen:

Males of waterbuck, lechwe, and kob have been observed urinating onto their own bellies and chins and then rubbing the urine onto their own shoulders and backs. All males of the subfamily Reduncinae perform flehmen.

Waterbucks possess diffuse glands which produce a musky scent. Lechwe have inguinal glands. Kob have both inguinal and pedal glands, and preorbital glands.

All species have enhanced waterproofing with sebaceous secretions that oil the entire coat and scent the animal very strongly, especially males.<sup>25</sup>

Individual recognition, particularly between mothers and their offspring, is probably based mainly on scent clues.<sup>26</sup>

## Auditory behavior:

**Waterbuck:** "Snores" in sexual excitement or in alarm. Female calls calf with a soft a "Muh", calf answers in a high bleating.

**Kob:** When excited, alarmed, or after mating, kob have been heard making a whistling sound through the nostrils 1-5 times. Also females and young have a call sound for one another.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park, South African Exhibit - 90 sq. acres.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Jonathan Kingdon, 1982

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Walter Leuthold, 1977

**Lechwe:** In excitement a varied mixture of coughing, grunts, or whistling as in the Kob only softer. Males sometimes snort when suddenly disturbed, calves bleat.<sup>27</sup>

## **Courtship behavior:**

When the females come into estrus, the male (or males) will attempt to follow closely, often performing "laufschlag" (males will walk directly behind the female tapping between her hind legs with his forelegs). He will then try to stimulate her to urinate by nudging her hindquarters with his nose, then perform "flehmen" (lip curl). Copulation is generally brief.

## **Parental care:**

Newborn calves of the subfamily Reduncinae are classified as "hiders" or "tuckers". Calves are hidden for 2-4 weeks after birth and are visited by the dam at intervals throughout the day to provide nursing opportunities. Typically a dam will groom her calf while the calf is suckling, paying particular attention to the anal region, which apparently stimulates the calf to nurse and to defecate. The mother will remove all traces of the calf's feces.

## Infant development:

**Waterbucks :** wt. at birth - 13 kg. Suckling lasts to 6-7 months. Horns begin growth at 5-6 months.

**Kob:** wt. at birth - 4-5 kg. After 7 months 's are and 's  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the adult weight and half adult size. Horn growth begins at 5 months. Suckles 6-7 months.

**Lechwe:** wt. at birth *Kobus megaceros:* 4.5 kg. 5.5 kg. Weight doubles at 4-5 weeks. wt. at birth *Kobus leche* 5 kg. Suckling time is 3-4 months.<sup>28</sup>

## Development (weights) of mother-reared calves (Reduncinae)<sup>29</sup>

## **Environmental enrichment:**

Trees, rocks, tree stump rings, pools, wallows all provide opportunities for enrichment .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Theodor Haltenorth, 1984

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Haltenorth, Theodor, 1984

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Amer. Assn. of Zoo Keepers, ZOO INFANT DEVELOPMENT NOTEBOOK

## 7. Reproduction and Ontogeny

## Characteristics of cyclicity:

## Waterbuck

estrous cycle lasts	21 days
females estrus lasts	12-24 hours
gestation	. 272-287 days
interbirth interval	325 to 335 days
fecundity - females	1 yr.
males	3 to 4 yrs.
age at first reproduction: <i>I</i>	<i>Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus22-24</i> mos.
K	<i>Cobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici.</i> .30 mos.
weight of offspring	13 kg.
longevity	18 yrs.

## Lechwe

estrous cycle lasts	21 days
females estrus lasts	24 hrs
gestation	
interbirth interval -	Kobus megaceros: 18 mos.
	Kobus leche leche22 mos.
fecundity - females	1 ½ yr.
males	2 to 2 ½ yrs.
age at first reproduc	ction25 mos.
weight of offspring	5 kg.
longevity	15 yrs.

## Kob

## **Behavioral signs of estrus:**

Females in estrus will often hold their tails out. Males will follow these females closely, sniffing and licking below her tail, stimulating the females to urinate. Males will "test" the urine and perform flehmen. Males will then attempt to mount and copulate with the females.

## Behavioral signs of impending parturition:

Increased restlessness (standing then lying down repeatedly) is often the most obvious indication of impending parturition. Sometimes the female can be seen stretching and straining. Other physiological signs to look for include enlarged udder and nipples, vaginal discharge, and the tail being held erect.

## Management of pregnant animals:

Pregnant animals are monitored for signs of impending parturition and symptoms which might indicate dystocia (vaginal discharge, malpositioned calf, dams inability to deliver after lengthy labor) requiring veterinary intervention.

## Physical development and growth characteristics:

Waterbuck: horns begin growth at 5-6 months.
Kob : At 7 months, is and is ½ of the adult weight. Horn growth begins at 5 months and after 1 year horns are as long as the ears.
Lechwe : Birth weight is doubled at 4 to 5 weeks.

## 8. Assisted Reproduction Techniques

artificial insemination-

## embryo transfer-

## electroejaculation and other semen collection methods-

## cryopreservation of semen-

The following species have had semen procured, post-mortem, and were cryo-preserved. (Zoological Society of San Diego)

Defassa Waterbuck Kobus ellipsiprymnus adolfi-frederici Ellipsen or Common Waterbuck Kobus ellipsiprymnus ellipsiprymnus Kafue Flats Lechwe Kobus leche kafuensis Nile Lechwe Kobus megaceros Uganda Kob Kobus kob thomasi

estrous cycle manipulation-

## 9. Contraception:

Contraception has been used with *Kobus ellipsiprymnus and Kobus megaceros* in zoological collections <sup>30</sup>

*Kobus ellipsiprymnus*: methods-Porcine Zona Pellucida Vaccine *Kobus megaceros*: methods- Melengestrol Acetate Implant (MGA)

For the most recent information and recommendations on methods, failure rate, and problems, please refer to:

-AZA Contraception Advisory Group Contraception Report, II. Ungulates -CAG Forum which is located at: www.worldzoo.org/CAG

- CAG database manager/CAG Forum manager at ph.# (314) 781-0900.

## 10. Hand-rearing:

Bovine colostrum ,procured from certified *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* (Johnes) -free commercial dairies, is the best choice, but when that is unavailable other colostrum substitutes have been used with good results. <sup>31</sup>

## ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SAN DIEGO NEONATAL FACILITIES HAND REARING STANDARD PROTOCOLS

## **Formula Information**:

SDWAP (Infant Isolation Unit an	d Animal Care Center):
1st 24 hours:	100% Bovine Colostrum (Igg's>90 mg/ml)
2nd 24 hours:	50% Bovine Colostrum (Igg's>90 mg/ml) 50% Formula
To 1 month:	10% Bovine Colostrum (Igg's>60-85 mg/ml) 90% Formula
To weaning:	100% Formula
SDZ (Children's Zoo):	
1st 24 hours:	100% Nutristart (Bovine colostrum substitute)
To 1 month:	10% Nutristart/ 90% Formula
To weaning:	100% Formula

## Supplements:

All facilities:	Visorbin:	SID through weaning (0.15 cc/lb)
SDWAP:	Bo-se:	Single dose upon arrival (0.05 cc/lb)
	Microbial pov	wder: Every bottle for first 7 days, then SID through
		weaning (Probios TM) 1/4 tsp/5lbs
SDZ:	Plexol:	SID through weaning

<sup>30</sup>AZA Contraception Advisory Group Database

<sup>31</sup>Immustart (manufactured by Immutek Animal Health, Inc. Aurora, Colorado) and Bovine Ig G, Colostrum-Guard (distributed by Jorgensen Laboratories, Inc.,

## **Solid Food Introduction**:

SDWAP: Within first week:

-Bermuda hay, flake alfalfa, acacia browse -1/4" low fiber alfalfa pellet, manna-milk pellet, omalene horse ration, rolled corn + barley mix. -Access to mineral salt block

## Gradual:

Increase proportion of low fiber alfalfa pellet and decrease amount of other pellets.

From 14 days:

-Timothy hay, flake alfalfa, acacia, browse -1/4" low fiber alfalfa pellet, omalene horse ration -Apple, carrot, yam

## **Handrearing Protocol:**

## **Ellipsen Waterbuck**

Birth weight: Female 10.2 kg avg. n=7 range 9.3 - 11.1 kg. Male 8.7 kg avg. n=5 range 8.3 - 9.1 kg

Current Formulas: 1) Whole Goats: Evap. Goats: 2:1

Alternate Formulas: 2) Evap. Goats:SPF 3:1 3) Evap. Cows:SPF 3:1

Feeding Apparatus: red or black lambs nipple

	Feeding Regimen	<u>1:</u>
Age	Minimum number of Feedings	Suggested Feeding Times
1-2 days	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
1-3 wks	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
3-6 wks	4	6am, 9, 1, 5pm
6-10 wks	3	6am, 11, 4pm
2.5-3 mos	3 decreasing volume mid	6am, 11, 4pm
3-3.5 mos	2 decreasing volume both	6am, 4p
3.5 mos	weaned	

		<u>Growth</u>	
Age	% change	body wt-birth wt	% body weight
(wks.)	from	birth wt X 100	intake of formula
	birth wt.	hi-lo range	
1.00	18% n=7	3% to 32%	9.4% n=7
2.00	29% n=8	11% to 48%	10.4% n=8
3.00	51% n=8	28% to 82%	10.7% n=8
4.00	74% n=6	45% to 136%	9.4% n=6
5.00	76% n=2	72% & 79%	9.8% n=2
6.00	97% n=2	96% & 98%	9.8% n=2
7.00	115% n=2	97% & 133%	11.8% n=2

## **Defassa Waterbuck**

Birth weight: Female 10.9 Kg avg. n=10 range 8.3 - 13.9 Kg Male 12.4 Kg avg. n=2 range 11.6 - 13/2 Kg Current Formulas: 1)Whole Goats : Evap. Goats 2:1

Alternate Formulas: 2)Evap. Goats:SPF 3:1 3)Evap. Goats:SPF 4:1

## **Feeding Regimen**

(same as above for Ellipsen Waterbuck)

		<u>Growth</u>	
Age	% change	<u>body wtbirth wt.</u>	% body weight
(wks.	from	birth wt. X 100	intake of formula
	birth weight		
1	19% n=4	12% to 33%	9.3% n=6
2	36% n=4	27% to 54%	9.0% n=6
3	54% n=4	42% to 69%	8.5% n=5
4	75% n=4	63% to 97%	8.2% n=4
5	108% n=3	85% to 122%	8.3% n=3
6	147% n=2	141% to 152%	7.9% n=2
7	171% n=1		7.6% n=1

## Nile Lechwe

Birth Weight:

Female	6.0 Kg avg.	n=5	range 5.4 - 6.6
Male	5.9 Kg. avg.	n=5	range 5.6 - 6.6

Current Formulas:

1) Evap. Goats:Water 4:1

Feeding Apparatus:

Beige, red or black lamb nipple. Small crosscuts recommended as calves have a tendency toward aspiration and congestion problems.

	Feeding R	legimen
Age	Minimum Number of Feedings	Suggested Feeding Times
1-2 days	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
1-3 wks	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
3-6 wks	4	6am, 9, 1, 5pm
6-10 wks	3	6am, 11, 4pm
10-12 wks	3 decreasing volume mid	6am, 11, 4pm
12-14 wks	2 decreasing volume both	6am, 4pm
3 mos	weaned	

		Growth	
Age	% change	body wtbirth wt.	% body weight
(wks.)	from	birth wt. X 100	intake of formula
	birth weight		
1	19.5% n=5	8% to 25%	12.2% n=5
2	46% n=5	37% to 65%	12.3% n=5
3	70% n=5	63% to 87%	11.9% n=5
4	89% n=5	68% to 103%	10.6% n=5
5	110% n=5	76% to 132%	10.2% n=5
6	139% n=6	103% to 165%	12.2% n=5
7	173% n=4	144% to 186%	9.3% n=4
8	204% n=2	198% & 210%	7.1% n=4
9	231% n=1		
10	237% n=2	217% & 257%	

Note: Usually noted eating hay and pellet by 1 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> weeks, ruminating by 2 mos.

## **Red Lechwe**

Birth weight:

	0			
Female	5.3 Kg avg.	n=5	range	4.0 - 6.0
Male	6.1 Kg avg.	n=5	range	5.8 - 6.4

Current Formulas:

1) Evap. Goats: SPF-Lac: Water 2:1:1 \*SPF portion included as an additional dietary zinc source.<sup>32</sup>

Feeding Apparatus:

Beige, red, or black lamb nipple. Small crosscuts recommended as calves have a tendency toward aspiration, coughing and congestion problems.

## Feeding Regimen:

same as above for Nile Lechwe

Hampshire,

 $<sup>^{32}\</sup>mathrm{SPF@}$  Sterile Milk Replacer (distributed by Pet-Ag Inc., P.O. Box 396, Illinois, 60140)

## Uganda Kob

Birth Weight: Female 4.8 Kg avg. n=12 range 3.2 - 6.0 Male 5.4 Kg avg. n=16 range 3.8 - 6.1

Current Formulas:

Evap.Goats: Whole Goats 1:1
 Evap Goats: Water 4:1

Feeding Apparatus:

-Beige, red, or black lamb nipple

-Animals are extremely difficult to get nursing from a bottle once they've nursed off their dam.

	Feeding Regimen:	
Age	Minimum Number of	Suggested Feeding
	Feedings	Times
1-2 days	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
1-3 wks	5	6am, 9, 12, 3, 6pm
3-6 wks	4	6am, 9, 1, 5pm
6-8 wks	3	6am, 11, 4pm
8-10 wks	3 decreasing volume mid	6am, 11, 4pm
10-12 wks	2 decreasing volume both	6am, 4pm
3 mos	weaned	

## Growth

Age	% change from	body wtbirth wt.	% body weight
(wks.)	birth weight	birth wt. X 100	intake of formula
1	17.7% n=19	6% to 31%	12% n=19
2	33% n=17	10% to 50%	11.0% n=18
3	56% n=16	25% to 89%	10.3% n=16
4	80% n=17	42% to 130%	10.7% n=16
6	143% n=12	105% to 187%	11.7% n=11
8	207% n=6	186% to 230%	8% n=6

Note: Usually noted eating browse around 6 weeks, pellets by 2 months.

Growth rates- of handreared animals (weights of typical, healthy, neonates) <sup>33</sup>

## Defassa Waterbuck -

Birth weight -	- 10.2 kg
Day 9	13.7 kg
Day 26	18. kg
Day 38	21.13 kg
Day 53	25.45 kg
Day 60	29.32 kg
3½ mos	weaned

## Ellipsen Waterbuck -

Birth weight - 10 kg	Birth weight10.2 kg
Day 12 14.9 kg	Day 9 12.5 kg
Day 20 18.86 kg	Day 20 14.3 kg
3 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> mos weaned	Day 27 17.2 kg
	$3\frac{1}{2}$ mosweaned

## Red or Zambesi Lechwe -

Birth weight - 6.5 kg
Day 9 8.0 kg
Day 2010.1 kg
Day 3111.7 kg
Day 6419.3 kg
Day 7121.3 kg
3 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> mosweaned

## Kafue Lechwe -

Birth weight 6.8 kg
Day 87.7 kg
Day 2611.1 kg
Day 5418.4 kg
Day 9627.5 kg
$3\frac{1}{2}$ mosweaned

## Uganda Kob -

Birth weight4.01 kg	Birth weight5.2 kg
Day 75.0 kg	Day 76.2 kg
Day 309.0 kg	Day 308.5 kg

## Nile Lechwe -

Birth weight5.12 kg
Day 16.3 kg
Day 3411.0 kg
Day 5415 kg
3 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> mosweaned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>San Diego Wild Animal Park

Day 6114.7 kg	Day 4613.5 kg
Day 8919.0 kg	4 mosweaned
4 mosweaned	

For more growth rates for members of the subfamily Reduncinae see footnote. <sup>34</sup>

## **Cross fostering-**

## **Reintroduction of hand-reared animals:**

As soon as possible the handraised animal should be taken back to the original enclosure from the nursery. A temporary fence consisting of portable panels may be erected inside the original enclosure and the animal placed inside. At least one panel should have a door/gate for keeper access. Nursery keepers may then continue to bottle feed at the original enclosure. Reintroduction to the other animals in the exhibit is determined by the animal management team, and may occur before weaning.

In large multi-species exhibits, occasionally hand-reared animals will not rejoin their conspecifics. Sometimes they will stay on the perimeter of the herd, join up with another species, or remain solitary.

## Methods to reduce chances of imprinting on humans-

Avoid prolonged separation of newborn from dam. It is sometimes advisable to delay the neonatal examination at least 24 hours (especially if it is a first time dam or a dam with a questionable "track record"). The examination should be performed as quickly as possible.

## Reproductive success of hand-reared animals-

In large multispecies exhibit reporductive success has proven to be highly variable from individual to individual, and has ranged from 100% mortality to 100% survival.

## 11. Role of keeper in animal management

## Level and type of contact:

Generally a "hands off" management is preferred to maintain natural behavior.

## **Role in management decisions:**

Keepers are responsible for making accurate daily observations and evaluations of animals in their area, reporting any suspected health problems or abnormalities, and behavioral or social problems which may be occurring within the exhibit.

## Animal training for husbandry and veterinary routines:

No information specific to Reduncinae was found. Good general information on this subject is available. <sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Zoo Infant Development Notebook, AAZK, 1994, Pages 243-246.

## 12. In Situ Programs

See African Antelope Database 1998, (Rod East) IUCN/SSC Antelope, Specialist Group Report, December 1998.

## 13. References

- American Association of Zoo Keepers, ZOO INFANT DEVELOPMENT NOTEBOOK, Taylor, Harmony, Woodland Park Zoological Gardens, 5500 Phinney Av. N., Seattle, Wa., 98103, Ph. (206) 684-4866.
- Falchetti, Elisabetta. General Issues in the Conservation Biology of Nile Lechwe (Kobus megaceros) and Preliminary Guidelines for an Action Plan, GNUSLETTER, Vol. 16, No. 1. 1997.
- Fowler, Murray. ZOO AND WILD ANIMAL MEDICINE, 2ND EDITION. Philadelphia, W.B. Saunders, 1986.
- Gray, Annie P. MAMMALIAN HYBRIDS, Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, R. and R. Clark Ltd. 1972
- Haltenorth, Theodor. A Field Guide to the MAMMALS OF AFRICA. Collins. London.1984

International Air Transport Association, LIVE ANIMAL REGULATIONS 24th Ed. 1997

- Kingdon, Jonathan. EAST AFRICAN MAMMALS, An atlas of evolution. Volume III Part C (Bovids) 1982
- Mellen, Jill D., and Sue Ellis, Animal Learning and Husbandry Training, WILD MAMMALS IN CAPTIVITY, D. Kleiman. 1996
- Nowak, Ronald. M. Walkers MAMMALS OF THE WORLD. 5th edition, Volume II. John Hopkins University Press. Baltimore and London. 1991
- Osterhuis, James DVM, Handrearing the Ungulate Neonate, ZOO AND WILD ANIMAL MEDICINE, 2nd Edition, M. Fowler, Philadelphia, W.B. Saunders, 1986.
- Reiter, J., Trusk, A., Slifka, K., & Crissey, S. (1994) Ungulate hand-rearing. Animal Health Committee/Wilbur D. Amand (eds.) AZA Infant Diet Notebook.
- Russell Smith, David Ruhter, Joseph Flanagan, Tammery Olsen, John Iaderosa, Randy Fulk, Terrie Correll. ZOO STANDARDS FOR KEEPING ANTELOPES AND GAZELLES IN CAPTIVITY

Spinage, C.A. THE NATURAL HISTORY OF ANTELOPES. facts on file publications. New York. 1986

Thomas, Warren; Maruska, Edward, Mixed-Species Exhibits with Mammal,. WILD MAMMALS IN CAPTIVITY. Kleiman, Devra G.: Allen, Mary E.; Thompson, Katerina V.; Lumpkin, Susan eds. University of Chicago Press. 1996

Wallach, Joel D., Boever, William J. DISEASES OF EXOTIC ANIMALS. 1983

## **Regulatory Agencies:**

International Air Transport Association IATA Building 2000 Peel Street Montreal, Quebec Canada H3A 2R4	tel. 514-844-6311 fax 514-844-5286
USDA - APHIS -AC Western Region 9580 Micron Ave., Suite J Sacramento, California, 95827	tel. 916-857-6205
USDA - APHIS - AC Eastern Region 2568 - A Riva Rd., # 302 Annapolis, Maryland, 21401	tel. 410-571-8692
USDA - APHIS - AC Central Region Fort Worth Federal Center, Bldg. #11 Fort Worth, Texas, 76115	tel. 817-885-6923
USDA - APHIS - AC Headquarters Office 4700 River Road, Unit 84	tel. 301-734-4981

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Riverdale, Maryland, 20737-1234

Sam Berner, Lead Keeper, San Diego Wild Animal Park Linda Coate, San Diego Zoo Library Barbara Durrant, Center for Reproduction of Endangered Species, San Diego Zoo Kim Holt, Keeper, San Diego Wild Animal Park Barbara Kurtz, Animal Health Technician, San Diego Wild Animal Park Lynn Patton, Center for Reproduction of Endangered Species, San Diego Zoo Jackie Scibilia, Mammal Dept., San Diego Wild Animal Park Caroline Slobig, Mammal Dept., San Diego Wild Animal Park Harold Steyns, Lead Keeper, San Diego Zoo

## **Contributors:**

Lance Aubery, Lead Keeper, San Diego Wild Animal Park Mark Edwards PhD. Nutritionist, San Diego Wild Animal Park Debi Espinoza-Bylin, Sr. Keeper, Infant Isolation Unit, San Diego Wild Animal Park Kathy Fulkerson, Sr. Keeper, Infant Isolation Unit, San Diego Wild Animal Park Denise Gillen, Sr. Keeper, Infant Isolation Unit, San Diego Wild Animal Park Gloria Kendall, Sr. Keeper, San Diego Wild Animal Park Karla Michelson, Lead Keeper, Infant Isolation Unit, San Diego Wild Animal Park

## **Reviewers:**

Lawrence E. Killmar, General Curator, Zoological Society of San Diego Randy Rieches, Curator of Mammals, San Diego Wild Animal Park Alan Shoemaker, Collection Manager, Riverbanks Zoological Park and Botanical Garden

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### 

## NISC DISC REPORT

### 

**Abdel Hameed, Salwa M.** DIETARY OVERLAPS OF TIANG, BUFFALO, REEDBUCK, WATERBUCK AND SHEEP IN DINDER NATIONAL PARK, SUDAN. Ph.D. dissertation, Colo. State Univ.; 163p. 1985. From Diss. Abstr. Int. B Sci. Eng. 47(2):461. 1986. WR 203

**Agbelusi, E. A.** FEEDING HABITS OF THE SENEGAL KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB, ERXELEBEN 1777) UNDER RANCHING CONDITIONS AND IN THE WILD. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.; 23(3):179-185. 1989. WR 215

**Agbelusi E A** Variation in activities of Senegal kob (Kobus kob kob Erxleben 1777) during daylight period in an enclosure at Kainji Lake Research Institute range farm, New Busa, Nigeria. Afr. J. Ecol.; 29: 353-355. 1991

**Amubode, Felix O.** and Cletus A. Akossim KOB NUMBER AND HABITAT CHARACTERISTICS OF RIPARIAN VEGETATION IN NIGERIAN WOODED SAVANNA. Afr. J. Ecol.; 27(4):291-296. 1989. In English with French summ. WR 217

Ansell, W. F. H. and Banfield, C. F. THE SUBSPECIES OF /KOBUS LECHE/ GRAY, 1850 (BOVIDAE). Sauegetierkd. Mitt.; 27(3):168-176. 1979. In English. WR 176

**Artois, M.**; ed. Health and management of free-ranging mammals - Part two (papers) Office International des Epizooties, Paris. Revue Scientifique et Technique; 12(1):1-235.; Issue has separate title: Sante et gestion des mammiferes en liberte / Health and management of free-ranging mammals / Salud y gestion de los mamiferos en libertad (Deuxieme Partie - Part Two - Segunda Parte); 1993

**Balmford, Andrew** and M. Turyaho PREDATION RISK AND LEK-BREEDING IN UGANDA KOB. Anim. Behav.; 44(1):117-127. 1992. WR 232

**Balmford, Andrew**; A. M. Rosser and S. D. Albon CORRELATES OF FEMALE CHOICE IN RESOURCE-DEFENDING ANTELOPE. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.; 31(2):107-114. 1992. WR 232

**Balmford, Andrew**; Steve Albon and Sarah Blakeman CORRELATES OF MALE MATING SUCCESS AND FEMALE CHOICE IN A LEK-BREEDING ANTELOPE. Behav. Ecol.; 3(2):112-123. 1992. WR 232

**Balmford, Andrew** SOCIAL DISPERSION AND LEKKING IN UGANDA KOB. Behaviour; 120(3-4):177-191. 1992. WR 232

**Balmford, Andrew**; James C. Deutsch; Rory J. C. Nefdt and Tim Clutton-Brock TESTING HOTSPOT MODELS OF LEK EVOLUTION: DATA FROM THREE SPECIES OF UNGULATES. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.; 33(1):57-65. 1993. WR 238

**Bell, R. H. V.** and J. J. R. Grimsdell THE PERSECUTED BLACK LECHWE OF ZAMBIA. Oryx; 12(1):77-92. May 1973. WR 158:37

**Bell, R. H. V.**; J. J. R. Grimsdell; L. P. Van Lavieren and J. A. Sayer CENSUS OF THE KAFUE LECHWE BY AERIAL STRATIFIED SAMPLING. East Afr. Wildl. J.; 11(1):55-74. Mar. 1973. WR 151:30

**Benirschke, K.** and A. T. Kumamoto MAMMALIAN CYTOGENETICS AND CONSERVATION OF SPECIES. J. Hered.; 82(3):187-191. 1991. WR 225

**Ben-Shahar, R.** and J. D. Skinner HABITAT PREFERENCES OF AFRICAN UNGULATES DERIVED BY UNI- AND MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES. Ecology; 69(5):1479-1485. 1988. WR 214

**Berry, Phil** MORE RED-BILLED OXPECKERS ON WATERBUCK. Zambian Ornithol. Soc. Newsl.; 22(7):80. 1992. WR 232

**Bothma, J.** du P.; M. J. S. Peel; S. Pettit and D. Grossman EVALUATING THE ACCURACY OF SOME COMMONLY USED GAME-COUNTING METHODS. S. Afr. J. Wildl. Res.; 20(1):26-32. 1990. In English with Afrikaans summ. WR 221

**BOYCE, W.M.**; ALLEN, J.; HIMMELWRIGHT, C.; ELLIOTT, L.; MIKOLON, A.; MAZET, J.; GARDNER, I. IMPLEMENTATION AND EVALUATION OF A STRATEGIC PARASITE CONTROL PROGRAM FOR EXOTIC UNGULATES. AMERICAN VETERINARY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION. JOURNAL; 198(11):1972-1976.; 1991

**Braack, L. E. O.** and V. De Vos FEEDING HABITS AND FLIGHT RANGE OF BLOW-FLIES (CHRYSOMYIA SPP.) IN RELATION TO ANTHRAX TRANSMISSION IN THE KRUGER NATIONAL PARK, SOUTH AFRICA. Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res.; 57(2):141-142. 1990. WR 222

**Brugger, Joan** EXOTIC HOOFSTOCK HEMATOLOGY: A BRIEF OVERVIEW. Proc. Annu. Conf. Zoo Vet. Tech.; No. 14. p. 7-10. 1994. WR 251

**BUECHNER HK.** IMPLICATIONS OF SOCIAL BEHAVIOR IN THE MANAGEMENT OF UGANDA KOB. IUCN PUBL.NEW SER.NO.24,853-870. 1974

**BUNNELL, F.L.**; HARESTAD, A.S. ACTIVITY BUDGETS AND BODY WEIGHT IN MAMMALS: HOW SLOPPY CAN MAMMALS BE? CURRENT MAMMALOGY; 2:245-305. (PLENUM PRESS, NEW YORK AND LONDON); 1990 **Burger, Joanna** and Michael Gochfeld VIGILANCE IN AFRICAN MAMMALS: DIFFERENCES AMONG MOTHERS, OTHER FEMALES, AND MALES. Behaviour; 131(3-4):153-169. 1994. WR 248

**Cave-Browne, Ann M.** AN ECOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE THREE SPECIES EXHIBIT AT EDINBURGH ZOO. Ratel; 13(3):87-93. 1986. WR 203

**Chabwela, H.N.** Wetland conservation, wildlife management, and human communities on the Kafue Flats, Zambia. International Crane Workshop, 4th, Qiquhar, China, 1987. Proceedings, p.369-375. International Crane Foundation, Baraboo, Wi OF UNGULATES IN THE AFRICAN sconsin, U.S.A.

**Child, Graham** THE DECLINE OF A LECHWE POPULATION. Mammalia; 39(4):706. 1975. In English. WR 161

**Child, Graham** and Robbel, Hans DROWNING OF LECHWE BY SPOTTED HYAENA. Mammalia; 39(4):705-706. 1975. In English. WR 161

**Child, Graham** AND Robbel, Hans. THE POSSIBLE SIGNIFICANCE OF "GRASS HORNING" BY MALE LECHWE. Mammalia; 39(4):709-711. 1975. In English.WR 161

**Church, J. M. F.** and Rees, Wendy A. A COMPUTER PROGRAMME FOR PRIMARY PRODUCTIVITY STUDIES. East Afr. Wildl. J.; 14(2):169-170. June 1976. WR 162

**Clutton-Brock, T. H.;** J. C. Deutsch and R. J. C. Nefdt THE EVOLUTION OF UNGULATES LEKS. Anim. Behav.; 46(6):1121-1138. 1993. WR 241

**Crawford, M. A.**; Casperd, N. M. and Sinclair, A. J. THE LONG CHAIN METABOLITES OF LINOLEIC AND LINOLENIC ACIDS IN LIVER AND BRAIN IN HERBIVORES AND CARNIVORES. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Comp. Biochem.; 54(3):395-401. 1976. WR 165

**de Bie, S.** WILDLIFE RESOURCES OF THE WEST AFRICAN SAVANNA. Agric. Univ. Wageningen Pap.; 91(2):266p. 1991. WR 230

**De Meneghi, Daniele**; Apollonio, Marco; Hartl, Gunther B. Biochemical-genetic approach towards the systematics of lechwe Kobus leche. Acta Theriol.; 40(3):303-308. 1995.

**DE MENEGHI, D.**; KAWECHE, G.B. WILDLIFE CONSERVATION AND GAME MANAGEMENT IN ZAMBIA. INTERNATIONAL UNION OF GAME BIOLOGISTS. CONGRESS, 19TH, TRONDHEIM, NORWAY, 1989. TRANSACTIONS, V.2, P.643-654. (NORSK INSTITUTT FOR NATURFORSKNING, TRONDHEIM, NORWAY)

**Dettman, C. D.** and S. B. Higgins-Opitz THE INFECTION CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ANTELOPE SCHISTOSOMES, SCHISTOSOMA MARGREBOWIEI AND S. LEIPERI, IN INBRED BALB/c MICE AND IN MASTOMYS COUCHA. J. Helminthol.; 68(1):19-33. 1994. WR 243

**Deutsch, James C.** UGANDA KOB MATING SUCCESS DOES NOT INCREASE ON LARGER LEKS. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.; 34(6):451-459. 1994. WR 245

**Deutsch, James C.** and Angelo A. Ofezu UGANDA KOB REPRODUCTIVE SEASONALITY: OPTIMAL CALVING SEASONS OR CONDITION-DEPENDENT OESTRUS? Afr. J. Ecol.; 32(4):283-295. 1994. In English with French summ. WR 247

**Deutsch, James C.** and Paul Weeks UGANDA KOB PREFER HIGH-VISIBILITY LEKS AND TERRITORIES. Behav. Ecol.; 3(3):223-233. 1992. WR 234

**de vos, A.** Wildlife utilization on marginal lands in developing countries. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:8-10.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

**DITTRICH L.** EIN WASSERBOCKWEIBCHEN (KOBUS DEFASSA) MIT KLEINEN HOERNERN <A FEMALE DEFASSA-WATERBUCK (KOBUS DEFASSA) WITH SMALL HORNS>. Z. KOELNER ZOO; 18(2),71-72. 1975

**Dobroruka, Ludek J.** BREEDING SEASON OF THE LECHWE KOBUS LECHE. Int. Zoo Yearb.; 26:294-296. 1987. WR 209

**Dunham, Kevin M.** THE EFFECT OF DROUGHT ON THE LARGE MAMMAL POPULATIONS OF ZAMBEZI RIVERINE WOODLANDS. J. Zool. (Lond.); 234(3):489-526. 1994. WR 247

**Dunham, K.** Fruit production by Acacia akbuda trees in Zambezi riverine woodlands. Journal of Tropical Ecology; 6(4):445-457.; 1990

**Dupuy, Andre R.** BEHAVIOR OF BUFFON'S KOB IN THE NIOKOLOKOBA NATIONAL PARK (SÉNÉGAL). [COMPORTEMENT DU COBE DE BUFFON AU PARC NATIONAL DU NIOKOLOKOBA (SÉNÉGAL). ] Notes Africaines; 124:118-123. Oct. 1969. From J. Mammal. 52(1, suppl.), 1971. In French. WR 141:39

**Ebedes, H.** Reducing translocation mortalities with tranquilizers. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:378-380.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

**Engelbrecht, Johannes Schalk** ECOLOGICAL SEPARATION OF THE IMPALA AEPYCEROS MELAMPUS LICHTENSTEIN, WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (OGILBY) AND THE KUDU TRAGELAPHUS STREPSICEROS (PALLAS) IN THE CENTRAL REGION OF THE KRUGER NATIONAL PARK. M.S. thesis, Univ. Pretoria (South Africa); 1986. From Masters Abstr. Int. 25(3):273. 1987. Afrikaans text. WR 211 **Falchetti, E.;** A. Ceccarelli and D. Miliani OBSERVATIONS OF AGONISTIC BEHAVIOUR IN MALE KOBUS MEGACEROS (BOVIDAE REDUNCINAE). Fifteenth Meeting of the Italian Society for the Study of Animal Behaviour (Castiglione della Pescaia, Italy, September 22-24, 1992): Invited Lecture and Communications. Francesco Dessi-Fulgheri, editor. Ethol. Ecol. & Evol.; 6(3):419. 1994. Abstract only. WR 249

**Falchetti E;** Guillet A; Mostacci B Status and conservation of Kobus megaceros (Bovidae, Reduncinae) in the wild: Population viability analysis factors and wild management. in: Atti VII Conv. Assoc. A. Ghigi per la Biologia e la Conserv. Vertebr. (Spagnesi M & Randi E, eds), Bologna; 15-16 Gennaio 1993; Ric. Biol. Selvaggina Suppl. Vol. XXI: 319-326. 1993

**Falchetti, E. and B. Mostacci** THE INFLUENCE OF BEHAVIOUR IN THE HANDLING OF KOBUS MEGACEROS (BOVIDAE REDUNCINAE) IN CAPTIVITY. Fifteenth Meeting of the Italian Society for the Study of Animal Behaviour (Castiglione della Pescaia, Italy, September 22-24, 1992): Invited Lecture and Communications. Francesco Dessi-Fulgheri, editor. Ethol. Ecol. & Evol.; 6(3):420. 1994. Abstract only. WR 249

**Falchetti E;** Mostacci B Some behavioural traits of Kobus megaceros (Bovidae, Reduncinae) to be taken into account for its successful captive breeding. in: Atti VII Conv. Assoc. A. Ghigi per la Biologia e la Conserv. Vertebr. (Spagnesi M & Randi E, eds), Bologna; 15-16 Gennaio 1993; Ric. Biol. Selvaggina Suppl. Vol. XXI: 309-317. 1993

**Fawcett, Donald W.;** Patricia A. Conrad; Jan G. Grootenhuis and Subhash P. Morzaria ULTRASTRUCTURE OF THE INTRAERYTHROCYTIC STAGE OF THEILERIA SPECIES FROM CATTLE AND WATERBUCK. Tissue Cell; 19(5):643-655. 1987. WR 208

**Flach, E. J.;** D. A. Blewett and K. W. Angus COCCIDIAL INFECTIONS OF CAPTIVE RED LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE LECHE) AT EDINBURGH ZOO, WITH A NOTE ON CONCURRENT TRICHURIS SP. INFECTIONS. J. Zoo Wildl. Med.; 22(4):446-452. 1991. WR 228

**Fletcher, K. C.** INFECTIOUS BOVINE KERATOCONJUNCTIVITIS IN A COMMON WATERBUCK. J. Zoo Anim. Med.; 10(2):49-51. June 1979. WR 185

**Floody, Owen R.** and Arnold, Arthur P. UGANDA KOB (/ADENOTA KOB THOMASI/): TERRITORIALITY AND THE SPATIAL DISTRIBUTIONS OF SEXUAL AND AGONISTIC BEHAVIORS AT A TERRITORIAL GROUND. Z. Tierpsychol.; 37(2):192-212. Mar. 1975. In English with German summ. WR 161

**Foley, R. A.** and Sarah Atkinson A DENTAL ABNORMALITY AMONG A POPULATION OF DEFASSA WATERBUCK (KOBUS DEFASSA RUPPELL 1835). Afr. J. Ecol.; 22(4):289-294. 1984. In English with French summ. WR 196

**Formenty, P.;** J. Domenech; F. Lauginie; M. Ouattara; S. Diawara; J. P. Raath; D. Grobler; Y. Leforban and A. Angba EPIDEMIOLOGICAL SURVEY OF BLUETONGUE IN SHEEP, CATTLE AND VARIOUS SPECIES OF WILDLIFE IN COTE D'IVOIRE. Rev. Sci. Tech. O.I.E. (Off. Int. Epizoot.); 13(3):737-751. 1994. In French with English and Spanish summ. WR 246

**Fryxell, John** ON THE ROAD WITH THE WHITE-EARED KOB. Anim. Kingdom; 89(5):12-17. 1986. WR 214

**Furley, Chris W.** CONGENITAL URETHRAL AGENESIS IN A NILE LECHWE (KOBUS MEGACEROS). J. Zoo Anim. Med.; 15(4):152-153. 1984. WR 197

**Furniss, R.** Marketing surplus game ranched animals to big game hunters. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:311-320.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

**Fryxell, John M.** LEK BREEDING AND TERRITORIAL AGGRESSION IN WHITE-EARED KOB. Ethology; 75(3):211-220. 1987. WR 230

**Fryxell, John Mark** RESOURCE LIMITATION AND POPULATION ECOLOGY OF WHITE-EARED KOB. Ph.D. dissertation, Univ. British Columbia (Canada); 1985. From Diss. Abstr. Int. B Sci. Eng. 47(4):1390. 1986. WR 204

**Fryxell, J. M.** and A. R. E. Sinclair SEASONAL MIGRATION BY WHITE-EARED KOB IN RELATION TO RESOURCES. Afr. J. Ecol.; 26(1):17-31. 1988. In English with French summ. WR 210

**Fryxell, J. M.** SEASONAL REPRODUCTION OF WHITE-EARED KOB IN BOMA NATIONAL PARK, SUDAN. Afr. J. Ecol.; 25(2):117-124. 1987. In English with French summ. WR 206

**Gallagher, D. S.,** Jr.; and J. E. Womack CHROMOSOME CONSERVATION IN THE BOVIDAE. J. Hered.; 83(4):287-298. 1992. WR 232

**Gentry A W** Evolution and dispersal of African Bovidae. in: Horns, Pronghorns and Antlers: Evolution, Morphology, Physiology and Social Significance (Bubenik G A & Bubenik A B, eds), Springer: 195-227. 1990

**Georgiadis, N.J.;** Kat, P.W.; Oketch, H. Allozyme divergence within the Bovidae. Evolution; 44(8):2135-2149.; 1990

**Gerrling, C.** and J. Bokdam THE SENEGAL KOB, ADENOTA KOB KOB (ERXLEBEN), IN THE COMOE NATIONAL PARK, IVORY COAST. Mammalia; 35(1):17-24. 1971. From Biol. Abstr. 53(1), 1972. In English with French summ. WR 145:40

**Gilbert, Jonathan H.** DENSITY AND DISTRIBUTION OF THE BUFFON KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB) IN THE COMOE NATIONAL PARK, IVORY COAST. UNPUBLISHED M.S. THESIS, MICHIGAN STATE UNIV., EAST LANSING, MICHIGAN.; 1984

**Gilbert, Jonathan H.** FACTORS AFFECTING THE LOCAL DISTRIBUTION AND ABUNDANCE OF THE SENEGAL KOB IN THE COMOE NATIONAL PARK, IVORY COAST. M.S. thesis, Mich. State Univ.; 100p. 1984. From Masters Abstr. 23(3):351. 1985. WR 211

**Gosling, L. M.** SCENT MARKING IN AN ANTELOPE LEK TERRITORY. Anim. Behav.; 35(2):621-622. 1987. WR 207

**Graber, M.** /SCHISTOSOMA MARGREBOWIEI/ OF COBS IN CHAD. J. Helminthol.; 52(1):72-74. Mar. 1978. WR 170

**Griffin, J.F.T.;** Cross, J.P.; Buchan, C.S. Laboratory immunodiagnostic tests for tuberculosis in deer and exotic ruminants. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:446-451.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

**Grimsdell, J. J. R.** and R. H. V. Bell POPULATION GROWTH OF RED LECHWE, KOBUS LECHE LECHE GRAY, IN THE BUSANGA PLAIN, ZAMBIA. East Afr.Wildl. J.; 10(2):117-122. Oct. 1972. WR 149:46

**GRUE, H.;** JENSEN, B. REVIEW OF THE FORMATION OF INCREMENTAL LINES IN TOOTH CEMENTUM OF TERRESTRIAL MAMMALS. DANISH REVIEW OF GAME BIOLOGY; 11(3):1-48.; 1979

**Hagen,** Horst and Hagen, Ulrike DISTURBANCES OF THE ECOSYSTEM OF THE KAFUE LECHWE ANTELOPE (/KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS/ HALTENORTH, 1963) BY BUILDING DAMS IN KAFUE/ZAMBIA. [STOERUNG DES OEKOSYSTEMS DER KAFUE-LITSCHI-MOORANTILOPE, /KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS/ HALTENORTH, 1963, DURCH ERRICHTUNG VON STAUDAEMMEN IM KAFUE (SAMBIA).] Saeugetierkd. Mitt.; 27(3):161-168. 1979. In German with English summ. WR 176

Hashim, I. M.; Dafalla, A. A. Faecal pellets and biomasses of some wild herbivores in Dinder National Park, Sudan. Afr. J. Ecol.;34 (1):66-69. 1996.

Hashim, Ibrahim Mohamed MEADOW USE BY WILD UNGULATES IN THE DINDER NATIONAL PARK, SUDAN. Ph.D. dissertation, N.M. State Univ.; 103p. 1984. From Diss. Abstr. Int. B Sci. Eng. 45(1):11. July 1984. WR 195

**Hashim, I. M.** RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BIOMASS OF FORAGE USED AND MASSES OF FAECAL PELLETS OF WILD ANIMALS IN MEADOWS OF THE DINDER NATIONAL PARK. Afr. J. Ecol.; 25(4):217-223. 1987. In English with French summ. WR 208 **Herbert, Harry John** THE POPULATION DYNAMICS OF THE WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (OGILBY, 1833) IN THE SABI-SAND WILDTUIN. Mammal. Depicta; 1972:5-68. 1972. From J. Mammal. 53(4, suppl.), 1972. In (English) with German summ. WR 149:47

**Howard, G. W.** and H. N. Chabwela THE RED LECHWE OF BUSANGA PLAIN, ZAMBIA - A CONSERVATION SUCCESS. Oryx; 21(4):233-235. 1987. WR 208

**Howard, G. W.**; R. C. V. Jeffery and J. J. R. Grimsdell CENSUS AND POPULATION TRENDS OF BLACK LECHWE IN ZAMBIA. Afr. J. Ecol.; 22(3):175-197. Sept. 1984. In English with French summ. WR 195

**Howard, G. W.** and R. C. V. Jeffery PRESENT DISTRIBUTION OF LECHWE ON THE KAFUE FLATS. Black Lechwe; No. 1. p. 17-20. 1981. WR 186

**Howard, G. W.** and Sidorowicz, J. A. GEOGRAPHICAL VARIATION IN LECHWE (/KOBUS LECHE/ GRAY) IN ZAMBIA. Mammalia; 40(1):69-77. 1976. In English with French summ. WR 163

**Howard, G. W.;** C. A. Wright and V. R. Southgate SCHISTOSOME INFECTIONS OF LECHWE AND WATERBUCK IN ZAMBIA - A PRELIMINARY REPORT. Proc. Int. Conf. Wildl. Dis. Assoc.; 4:136-138. 1984. WR 195

**Hutchison, Maureen** ARTIFICIAL REARING OF SOME EAST AFRICAN ANTELOPES. J. Zool. (Lond.); 161(4):437-442. 1970. From Biol. Abstr. 52(3), 1971. WR 142:46

**Hutchison, Maureen** OBSERVATIONS ON THE GROWTH RATE AND DEVELOPMENT OF SOME EAST AFRICAN ANTELOPES. J. Zool. (Lond.); 161(4):431-436. 1970. From Biol. Abstr. 52(2), 1971. WR 142:46

**Imai, Soichi;** Yoshiatsu Tsutsumi; Shojiro Yumura and Albert Mulenga CILIATE PROTOZOA IN THE RUMEN OF KAFUE LECHWE, KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS, IN ZAMBIA, WITH THE DESCRIPTION OF FOUR NEW SPECIES. J. Protozool.; 39(5):564-572. 1992. WR 232

**Joubert, Eugéne** A NOTE ON THE CHALLENGE RITUALS OF TERRITORIAL MALE LECHWE. Madoqua Ser. I; no. 5. p. 63-67. 1972. WR 149:47

**Keet, D. F.;** Hunter, Pamela; Bengis, R. G.; Bastos, Armanda; Thomson, G. R. The 1992 foot-and-mouth disease epizootic in the Kruger National Park. J. S. Afr. Vet. Assoc.; 67(2):83-87. 1996.

**Kent, Marijo G.**; Mike Douglas and John Olson CYTOGENETIC AND FERTILITY STUDIES IN ARTIODACTYLA. Proc. Int. Conf. Zool. Avian Med.; 1:515. 1987. Abstract only. WR 211

**Kingdon J** Kob, Kobus kob. in: East African Mammals. Vol. IIIC (Bovids); An Atlas of Evolution in Africa (Kingdon J): 366-381. 1982

**Kingdon J** Waterbuck, Kobus ellipsiprymnus. in: East African Mammals. Vol. IIIC (Bovids); An Atlas of Evolution in Africa (Kingdon J): 384-393. 1982

**Kitchener, Andrew** FRACTURE TOUGHNESS OF HORNS AND A REINTERPRETATION OF THE HORNING BEHAVIOUR OF BOVIDS. J. Zool. (Lond.); 213(4):621-639. 1987. WR 209

**K pper, W.**; M. Wolters and I. Tscharf OBSERVATION ON KOB ANTELOPES (KOBUS KOB) IN NORTHERN IVORY COAST AND THEIR EPIZOOTIOLOGICAL ROLE IN TRYPANOSOMIASIS TRANSMISSION. Z. Angewandte Zool.; 70(3):277-283. 1983. From Vet. Bull. 54(7):583. July 1984. Abstract only. WR 195

**Kreuter, Urs P.** and John P. Workman COSTS OF OVERSTOCKING ON CATTLE AND WILDLIFE RANCHES IN ZIMBABWE. Ecol. Econ.; 11(3):237-248. 1994. WR 247

**Kruger, F. J.** and C. T. Wolmarans HOST CELLULAR COMPONENTS ADHERING TO THE TEGUMENT OF SCHISTOSOMES FROM CATTLE, BUFFALO, HIPPOPOTAMUS AND LECHWE. Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res.; 57(2):137-139. 1990. WR 222

**Kutilek, Michael Joseph** FEEDING STRATEGIES AND FORAGING IMPACT OF NON-MIGRATORY AFRICAN ANTELOPE. Ph. D. dissertation, Mich. State Univ.; 94p. 1975. From Diss. Abstr. Int. B Sci. Eng. 36(9), 1976. WR 161

**Kutilek, Michael J.** FORAGE-HABITAT RELATION OF NONMIGRATORY AFRICAN UNGULATES IN RESPONSE TO SEASONAL RAINFALL. J. Wildl. Manage.; 43(4):899-908. Oct. 1979. WR 180

Maloiy, G. M. O.; E. T. Clemens and J. M. Z. Kamau ASPECTS OF DIGESTION AND IN VITRO RUMEN FERMENTATION RATE IN SIX SPECIES OF EAST AFRICAN WILD RUMINANTS. J. Zool. (Lond.); 197(3):345-353. July 1982. WR 187

**Mbassa, G. K.** CHARACTERISTICS OF PERIPOLAR CELL GRANULES OF ANTELOPES AND GOATS. Vet. Rec.; 129(13):289-291. 1991. WR 227

**Melton, D. A.** and Carol L. Melton CONDITION AND MORTALITY OF WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS) IN THE UMFOLOZI GAME RESERVE. Afr. J. Ecol.; 20(2):89-103. June 1982. In English with French summ. WR 186

**Melton, Derek Arthur** ECOLOGY OF WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (OGILBY, 1833) IN THE UMFOLOZI GAME RESERVE. D.Sc. dissertation, Univ. Pretoria (South Africa); 1979. From Diss. Abstr. Int. B Sci. Eng. 41(2):490. Aug. 1980. WR 179

**Melton, D. A.** POPULATION DYNAMICS OF WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS) IN THE UMFOLOZI GAME RESERVE. Afr. J. Ecol.; 21(2):77-91. June 1983. In English with French summ. WR 190

**Melton, D. A.** and D. Heard UNGULATE BEHAVIOUR AND HABITAT QUALITY; INSIGHTS FROM AFRICA AND THE ARCTIC. "Ongules/Ungulates 91", Proceedings of the International Symposium, Toulouse, France, September 2-6, 1991. Francois Spitz, Georges Janeau, Georges Gonzalez, and Stephane Aulagnier, editors.; p. 185-188. 1992. WR 239

**Melton, D. A.** WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPYRMNUS) POPULATION DYNAMICS: THE TESTING OF AN HYPOTHESIS. Afr. J. Ecol.; 25(3):133-145. 1987. In English with French summ. WR 207

**Mertens, H.** POPULATION STRUCTURE AND LIFE TABLE OF AFRICAN BUFFALO, TOPI AND UGANDA KOB IN THE VIRUNGA NATIONAL PARK, ZA IRE. [ STRUCTURES DE POPULATION ET TABLES DE SURVIE DES BUFFLES, TOPIS ET COBS DE BUFFON AU PARC NATIONAL DES VIRUNGA, ZAIRE. ] Terre Vie; 40(1):33-51. 1985. In French with English summ. WR 198

**Mihok, S.;** Kang'ethe, E.K.; Kamau, G.K. Trials of traps and attractants for Stomoxys spp. (Diptera: Muscidae) Journal of Medical Entomology; 32(3):283-289.; 1995

**Mihok, Steve;** Reardon O. Olubayo and David F. Wesonga INFECTION RATES IN GLOSSINA MORSITANS MORSITANS FED ON WATERBUCK AND BORAN CATTLE INFECTED WITH TRYPANOSOMA CONGOLENSE. Acta Trop.; 49(3):185-191. 1991. WR 226

**Modha, Kishor L.** and Eltringham, S. K. POPULATION ECOLOGY OF THE UGANDA KOB (/ADENOTA KOB THOMASI/ (NEUMANN)) IN RELATION TO THE TERRITORIAL SYSTEM IN THE RWENZORI NATIONAL PARK, UGANDA. J. Appl. Ecol.; 13(2):453-473. Aug. 1976. WR 163

**Morrison, J. A.** MORPHOLOGY OF CORPORA LUTEA IN THE UGANDA KOB ANTELOPE, ADENOTA KOB THOMASI (NEUMANN). J. Reprod. Fert.; 26:297-305. 1971. WR 146:64

**MORRISON, JOHN ALBERT.** POSTPARTUM REPRODUCTIVE ACTIVITY IN FEMALE UGANDA KOB, ADENOTA KOB THOMASI (NEUMANN) UNPUBLISHED PH.D. DISS., WASHINGTON STATE UNIV., PULLMAN, WASHINGTON.; 1965

**Morrison, J. A**. and H. K. Buechner REPRODUCTIVE PHENOMENA DURING THE POST PARTUM-PRECONCEPTION INTERVAL IN THE UGANDA KOB. J. Reprod. Fert.; 26:307-317. 1971. WR 146:64

**Muehlenberg M.**; Roth H.H. Comparative investigations into the ecology of the kob antelope Kobus kob kob in the Comoe National Park, Ivory Coast. South Afr. J. Wildl. Res.; 15(1): 25-31. 1985

**Mulla, A. F.** and L. R. Rickman EVIDENCE FOR THE PRESENCE OF AN INNATE TRYPANOSOMICIDAL FACTOR IN THE SERUM OF A NON-IMMUNE AFRICAN WATERBUCK(KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS. . Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.; 82(1):97-98. 1988. WR 209

**Mungall, Elizabeth Cary** and William J. Sheffield EXOTICS ON THE RANGE: THE TEXAS EXAMPLE. Tex. A&M Univ. Press; 286p. 1994. Available at \$49.50 (cloth) from Tex. A&M Univ. Press, Drawer C, College Station 77843-4354. WR 244

**Nefdt, Rory J. C.** DISRUPTIONS OF MATINGS, HARASSMENT AND LEK-BREEDING IN KAFUE LECHWE ANTELOPE. Anim. Behav.; 49(2):419-429. 1995. WR 248

**OBOUSSIER H.** ZUR KENNTNIS DER MOORANTILOPEN (MAMMALIA, BOVIDAE, REDUNCINI) MITT. HAMBURG. ZOOL. MUS. INST.; 73,281-294. 1976

**O'Gara, Bart W.** and Gary Matson GROWTH AND CASTING OF HORNS BY PRONGHORNS AND EXFOLIATION OF HORNS BY BOVIDS. J. Mammal.; 56(4):829-846. Nov. 1975. WR 159:24

**Okaeme, A. N.** DOMESTICATION OF KOB IN SUB-HUMID ZONE. Nigerian Field; 50(1-2):21-28. 1985. WR 202

**Okaeme, A. N.**; E. A. Agbelusi; J. Mshelbwala; M. Wari; A. Ngulge and M. Haliru EFFECTS OF IMMOBILON AND REVIVON IN THE IMMOBILIZATION OF WESTERN KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB). Afr. J. Ecol.; 26(1):63-67. 1988. In English with French summ. WR 210

**Okaeme, A. N.** FIRST RECORD OF PARAMPHISTOMUM CERVI IN WESTERN KOB (KOBUS KOB) AT THE KAINJI LAKE NATIONAL PARK, NIGERIA. Afr.J. Ecol.; 25(4):297. 1987. In English. WR 208

**Olubayo, R. O.**; S. Mihok; D. F. Wesonga and E. R. M. Mbwabi PATHOGENICITY OF TSETSE-TRANSMITTED TRYPANOSOMA CONGOLENSE FOR WATERBUCK (KOBUS DEFASSA) AND BORAN CATTLE (BOS INDICUS). Acta Trop.; 49(3):173-183. 1991. WR 226

**Owen-Smith, Norman** MORPHOLOGICAL FACTORS AND THEIR CONSEQUENCES FOR RESOURCE PARTITIONING AMONG AFRICAN SAVANNA UNGULATES: A SIMULATION MODELLING APPROACH. Spec. Publ Tex. Tech Univ.; No. 28. p. 155. Mus. -166. 1989. WR 219

**Pastoret P P;** Thiry E; et al Diseases of wild animals transmissible to domestic animals. Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epizoot. 7(4): 661-771. 1988 **Penzhorn, B. L.**; Keet, D. F.; Bengis, R. G. A trypanosomatid organism on blood smears made from a waterbuck (Kobus ellipsiprymnus) carcass in the Kruger National Park. J. S. Afr. Vet. Assoc.; 67(1):4-5. 1996. 1 fig.; 1 tab.

**Peters, G.** MIXED HERDS OF COMMON AND DEFASSA WATERBUCK, KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (ARTIODACTYLA: BOVIDAE), IN NORTHERN KENYA. Bonn. Zool. Beitr.; 37(3):183-193. 1986. In English with German summ. WR 204

**Popp, James W.** and Linda Bunkfeldt-Popp INTERSPECIFIC AGGRESSION AMONG FEMALE UNGULATES. Aggressive Behav.; 12(3):197-200. 1986.WR 207

**Potter, Daniel A.** and Johnston, Donald E. /RAILLIETIA WHARTONI/ SP. N. (ACARI-MESOSTIGMATA) FROM THE UGANDA KOB. J. Parasitol.; 64 (1): 139-142. Feb. 1978. WR 170

**Prauser, Norbert** STUDIES ON FEEDING AND HABITAT PREFERENCES OF THE SENEGAL KOB (ADENOTA KOB KOB ERXLEBEN 1777). [UNTERSUCHUNGEN ZUR HABITAT- UND FUTTERPRÄFERENZ DER SENEGAL-MOORANTILOPE (ADENOTA KOB KOB ERXLEBEN 1777). ] Zool. Anz.; 212(1/2):17-25. 1984. In German with English summ. WR 194

**Reduth, D.**; Grootenhuis, J.G.; Olubayo, R.O.; Muranjan, M.; OtienoOmondi, F.P.; Morgan, G.A.; Brun, R.; Williams, D.J.L.; Black, S.J. African buffalo serum contains novel trypanocidal protein. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology; 41(2):95-103.; 1994

**Rees, W. A.** DO THE DAMS SPELL DISASTER FOR THE KAFUE LECHWE? Oryx; 14 (3): 231-235. June 1978. WR 172

**Rees, W. A.** THE ECOLOGY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE: AS AFFECTED BY THE KAFUE GORGE HYDROELECTRIC SCHEME. J. Appl. Ecol.; 15(1):205-217. Apr. 1978. WR 171

**Rees, W. A.** THE ECOLOGY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE: THE FOOD SUPPLY. J. Appl. Ecol.; 15 (1): 177-191. Apr. 1978. WR 171

**Rees, W. A.** THE ECOLOGY OF THE LECHWE, /KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS/ HALTENORTH, IN LOCHINVAR NATIONAL PARK, ZAMBIA, AS AFFECTED BY THE KAFUE GORGE HYDROELECTRIC SCHEME. HERBAGE DIGESTIBILITY IN FREE-LIVING ANTELOPE. East Afr. Wildl. J.; 14(1):59-66. Mar. 1976. WR 161

**Rees, W. A.** THE ECOLOGY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE: ITS NUTRITIONAL STATUS AND HERBAGE INTAKE. J. Appl. Ecol.; 15 (1): 193-203. Apr. 1978. WR 171

**Rees, W. A.** THE ECOLOGY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE: SOILS, WATER LEVELS AND VEGETATION. J. Appl. Ecol.; 15(1):163-176. Apr. 1978. WR 171

**Reilly, B.K.** An adaptive management approach to the counting of large ungulates on public land, Transvaal Province, Republic of South Africa. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:245-250.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

**Ricci-Bitti, Giulio;** Silvio Pampiglione and Matuka Kabala ON SOME COCCIDIA OF KOBUS DEFASSA RUPPEL, 1835, IN ZAIRE. J. Wildl. Dis.; 9(4):274-281. Oct. 1973. WR 151:33

**Richter, W. von** and Osterberg, R. THE NUTRITIVE VALUES OF SOME MAJOR FOOD PLANTS OF LECHWE, PUKU AND WATERBUCK ALONG THE CHOBE RIVER, BOTSWANA. East Afr. Wildl. J.; 15(2):91-97. June 1977. WR 167

**Robbel, Hans** and Child, Graham NOTES ON TERRITORIAL BEHAVIOUR IN LECHWE. Mammalia; 39(4):707-709. 1975. In English. WR 161

**Rodgers, W. A.** STATUS OF PUKU (KOBUS VARDONI LIVINGSTONE) IN TANZANIA. Afr. J. Ecol.; 22(2):117-125. June 1984. In English with French summ. WR 194

**Rosser, A. M.** ENVIRONMENTAL AND REPRODUCTIVE SEASONALITY OF PUKU, KOBUS VARDONI, IN LUANGWA VALLEY, ZAMBIA. Afr. J. Ecol.; 27(1):77-88. 1989. In English with French summ. WR 214

**Rosser, A. M.** A GLANDULAR NECKPATCH SECRETION AND VOCALIZATIONS ACT AS SINGALS OF TERRITORIAL STATUS IN MALE PUKU (KOBUS VARDONI). Afr. J. Ecol.; 28(4):314-321. 1990. In English with French summ. WR 224

**Rosser A M** Resource distribution, density, and determinants of mate access in puku. Behavioral Ecol.; 3(1): 13-24. 1992

**Ruggiero, R.G.** PREY SELECTION OF THE LION (PANTHERA LEO, L.) IN THE MANOVO-GOUNDA-ST. FLORIS NATIONAL PARK, CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC. MAMMALIA; 55(1): 23-34; 1991

**Sayer, J. A.** and L. P. Van Lavieren THE ECOLOGY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE POPULATION OF ZAMBIA BEFORE THE OPERATION OF HYDRO-ELECTRIC DAMS ON THE KAFUE RIVER. East Afr. Wildl. J.; 13(1):9-37. Mar. 1975. WR 157:31

**Schoen, A.** THE EFFECT OF HEAT STRESS AND WATER DEPRIVATION ON THE ENVIRONMENTAL PHYSIOLOGY OF BUSHBUCK, REEDBUCK AND UGANDA KOB. East Afr. Agric. For. J. (Nairobi); 37(1):1-7. July 1971. From J. Mammal. 53(2, suppl.), 1972. WR 147:50

Schuster, Richard H. LEKKING BEHAVIOR IN KAFUE LECHWE. Science; 192(4245):1240-1242. 18 June 1976. WR 161

**Schuster, Richard** WILL THE KAFUE LECHWE SURVIVE THE KAFUE DAMS? Oryx; 15(5):476-489. Dec. 1980. WR 181

**Schuster, Richard H.** THE VITAL LECHWE LEK. Oryx; 14 (3): 235-236. June 1978. WR 172

Shanthikumar, S. R.; S. A. Malachi and K. A. Majiyagbe RINDERPEST OUTBREAK IN FREE-LIVING WILDLIFE IN NIGERIA. Vet. Rec.; 117(18):469-470. 1985. WR 200

**Siegfried, W. Roy** TAIL LENGTH AND BITING INSECTS OF UNGULATES. J. Mammal.; 71(1):75-78. 1990. WR 218

**Sodeinde, O. A.** DRY SEASON HABITAT USE BY THE SENEGAL KOB IN THE KAINJI LAKE NATIONAL PARK, NIGERIA. Mammalia; 53(3):353-362. 1989. In English with French summ. WR 217

**Sodeinde, Olufemi Abiodun** HABITAT PREFERENCES AND ASPECTS OF GENERAL ECOLOGY OF THE SENEGAL KOB IN KAINJI LAKE NATIONAL PARK, NIGERIA. M.S. thesis, Mich. State Univ.; 83p. 1983. From Masters Abstr. 22(4):309. 1984. WR 196

**Sodeinde, O. A.** HABITAT QUALITY AND THE EFFECTS OF BURNING REGIME ON HABITAT USE BY THE BUFFON'S KOB IN THE KAINJI LAKE NATIONAL PARK, NIGERIA. "Ongules/Ungulates 91", Proceedings of the International Symposium, Toulouse, France, September 2-6, 1991. Francois Spitz, Georges Janeau, Georges Gonzalez, and Stephane Aulagnier, editors.; p. 233-235. 1992. WR 239

**Spala, Petr** and Miroslav Sprachal THE VOLUNTARY FOOD INTAKE OF SOME AFRICAN ANTELOPES IN CAPTIVITY. Zool. Gart.; 57(1):11-14. 1987. In English. WR 207

**Spinage, C. A.** LIVER WEIGHT AND ADIPOSE TISSUE CHANGES IN TWO EQUATORIAL AFRICAN UNGULATES. Afr. J. Ecol.; 23(2):133-143. 1985. In English with French summ. WR 198

**Spinage, C. A.** POPULATION DYNAMICS OF THE UGANDA DEFASSA WATERBUCK (KOBUS DEFASSA UGANDAE NEUMANN) IN THE QUEEN ELIZABETH PARK, UGANDA. J. Anim. Ecol.; 39(1):51-78. Feb. 1970. WR 150:52

Spinage, C. A. SEASONAL INFLUENCES AND THE KIDNEY FAT INDEX IN TWO EQUATORIAL AFRICAN UNGULATES. Afr. J. Ecol.; 22(3):217-221. Sept. 1984. In English with French summ. WR 195

**Spinage, C. A.** A TERRITORIAL ANTELOPE: THE UGANDA WATERBUCK. Academic Press; 334p. 1982. WR 203

**Spurway, N. C.**; Murray, M. G.; Gilmour, W. H.; Montgomery, I. Quantitative skeletal muscle histochemistry of four East African ruminants. J. Anat.; 188(2):455-472. 1996. 10 fig.; 1 tab.

**Stafford, K. J.** and Y. M. Stafford THE KIDNEY OF THE KAFUE LECHWE. Afr. J. Ecol.; 30(4):349-351. 1992. WR 234

**Stafford, K. J.** A REVIEW OF DISEASES OF PARASITES OF THE KAFUE LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS). J. Wildl. Dis.; 27(4):661-667. 1991. WR 227

**Stafford, K. J.** and Y. M. Stafford THE STOMACH OF THE KAFUE LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE KAFUENSIS). Anat. Histol. Embryol.; 20(4):299-310.1991. In English with German, Spanish, and French summ. WR 228

**Stafford, K. J.** and Y. M. Stafford STOMACH OF THE PUKU. Afr. J. Ecol.; 28(3):250-252. 1990. WR 222

**Stagg, D. A.**; R. P. Bishop; S. P. Morzaria; M. K. Shaw; D. Wesonga; G. O. Orinda; J. G. Grootenhuis; D. H. Molyneux and A. S. Young CHARACTERIZATION OF THEILERIA PARVA WHICH INFECTS WATERBUCK (KOBUS DEFASSA). Parasitology; 108(5):543-554. 1994.

**Stark, M. A.** THE NUMBERS, SEASONAL DISTRIBUTION PATTERNS, DENSITIES AND BIOMASS OF THE LARGE HERBIVORES, BENOUE NATIONAL PARK, CAMEROON. Mammalia; 50(3):341-350. 1986. In English with French summ. WR 205

**Steinhauer-Burkart, Bernd** CENSUS AND DISTRIBUTION OF THE LARGE MAMMALS IN THE COMOE NATIONAL PARK (IVORY COAST). NOTES ON THE HERD SIZE AND BREEDING SEASONS. Mammalia; 51(2):283-303. 1987. In French with English summ. WR 208

**Tchamba, M. N.**; Elkan, P. Status and trends of some large mammals and ostriches in Waza National Park, Cameroon. Afr. J. Ecol.; 33(4):366-376. 1995.

**Teer, J.G.** Non-native large ungulates in North America. Alaska. University. Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, Fairbanks. Miscellaneous Publications; 91-6:55-66.; Issue has separate title: Wildlife production: conservation and sustainable development. Edited by Lyle A. Renecker and Robert J. Hudson.; 1991

Thirgood, S. J.; R. J. Nefdt; R. C. V. Jeffery and B. Kamweneshe POPULATION TRENDS AND CURRENT STATUS OF BLACK LECHWE (KOBUS: BOVIDAE) IN ZAMBIA. Afr. J. Ecol.; 32(1):1-8. 1994. WR 242

**Thirgood, S. J.**; A. Robertson; A. M. Jarvis; S. V. Belbin; D. Robertson; R. J. Nefdt and B. Kamweneshe MATING SYSTEM AND ECOLOGY OF BLACK LECHWE (KOBUS: BOVIDAE) IN ZAMBIA. J. Zool. (Lond.); 228(1):155-172. 1992. WR 234

**Thomas, Ian** LIONESS CHASES WATERBUCK CALF INTO DAM. Afr. Wildl.; 40(6):223. 1986. WR 205

**Tomlinson, D. N. S.** ASPECTS OF THE EXPRESSIVE BEHAVIOUR OF THE WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS IN A RHODESIAN GAME PARK. S. Afr. J. Zool.; 15(3):138-145. 1980. In English with Afrikaans summ. WR 180

**TOMLINSON D.N.S.** EFFECTS OF THE SOCIAL ORGANIZATION OF WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (OGILBY 1833) ON FORAGE-HABIT UTILIZATION IN A RHODESIAN GAME PARK. AFR.J. ECOL.; 19(4),327-339. 1981

**Tomlinson, D. N. S.** SEASONAL FOOD SELECTION BY WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS IN A RHODESIAN GAME PARK. S. Afr. J. Wildl. Res.; 10(1):22-28. 1980. In English with Afrikaans summ. WR 178

**Tscherner, Walter** A NEW SPECIES OF COCCIDIA FROM /KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS/. [EINE NEUE KOKZIDIENART AUS DEM ELLIPSENWASSERBOCK (/KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS/).] Zool. Gart.; 46(1/2):52-53. 1976. In German. WR 166

**Vahala J**; Kase F Age- and sex-related differences in haematological values of the Lechwe waterbuck (Kobus leche) Comp. Haematol. Int.; 2: 97-100. 1992

**Vahala, J.**; Kase, F. Blood serum biochemical values of neonatal antelopes of the subfamilies Reduncinae and Hipppotraginae. Acta Veterinaria Brno; 63(3/4):109-113.; 1994

**Vahala, J.** and F. Kase SERUM CHEMISTRY PROFILES FOR LECHWE WATERBUCKS (KOBUS LECHE): VARIATIONS WITH AGE AND SEX. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Comp. Biochem.; 106(1):47-51. 1993. WR 238

**Visagie, E.J.**; Horak, I.G.; Boomker, J. The louse fly, Lipoptena paradoxa, Newstead 1907 (Diptera: Hippoboscidae): Description of its adult and puparium and biology in South Africa. Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research; 59(4):303-314.; 1992

**Walther, Fritz R.** TERRITORIAL BEHAVIOR IN CERTAIN HORNED UNGULATES, WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE EXAMPLES OF THOMSON'S AND GRANT'S GAZELLES. Zool. Afr.; 7(1):303-307. 1972. From Biol. Abstr. 56(5), 1973. WR 151:34

**Wanzie, C. S.** THE BEHAVIOUR OF BUFFON'S KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB ERXLEBEN) IN WAZA AND BENOUE NATIONAL PARK, CAMEROON. "Ongules/Ungulates 91", Proceedings of the International Symposium, Toulouse, France, September 2-6, 1991. Francois Spitz, Georges Janeau, Georges Gonzalez, and Stephane Aulagnier, editors.; p. 237-242. 1992. WR 239 **Wanzie, Chris** BUFFON'S KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB ERXLEBEN) IMMOBILISATION IN WAZA NATIONAL PARK, CAMEROON. Mammalia; 50(2):253-262. 1986. In English with French summ. WR 205

**Wanzie, Chris** MORTALITY FACTORS OF BUFFON'S KOB KOBUS KOB KOB (ERXLEBEN) IN WAZA NATIONAL PARK, CAMEROON. Mammalia; 50(3):351-356.1986. In English with French summ. WR 205

**Wanzie, C. S.** THE PRESENT DISTRIBUTION AND STATUS OF BUFFON'S KOB KOBUS KOB KOB (ERXLEBEN) IN WEST AND CENTRAL AFRICA. Mammalia; 55(1):79-84. 1991. In English with French summ. WR 225

**Wanzie, C. S.** SOCIABILITY OF BUFFON'S KOB (KOBUS KOB KOB ERXLEBEN) IN WAZA NATIONAL PARK, CAMEROON. Mammalia; 52(1):21-33. 1988. In English with French summ. WR 211

**Weiner, January** METABOLIC CONSTRAINTS TO MAMMALIAN ENERGY BUDGETS. Acta Theriol.; 34(1):3-35. 1989. In English with Polish summ. WR 216

Wentzel, J. J.; J. Du P. Bothma and N. van Rooyen CHARACTERISTICS OF THE HERBACEOUS LAYER IN PREFERRED GRAZING AREAS OF SIX HERBIVORE SPECIES IN THE SOUTH-EASTERN KRUGER NATIONAL PARK. Koedoe; 34(1):51-59. 1991. WR 228

**Williamson, D. T.** CONDITION, GROWTH AND REPRODUCTION IN MALE RED LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE LECHE GRAY 1850). Afr. J. Ecol.; 30(3):269-275. 1992. In English with French summ. WR 233

**Williamson, D. T.** CONDITION, GROWTH AND REPRODUCTION IN FEMALE RED LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE LECHE GRAY 1850). Afr. J. Ecol.; 29(2):105-117. 1991. In English with French summ. WR 227

Williamson, D. T. DIURNAL ACTIVITY BUDGETS OF RED LECHWE. Afr. J. Ecol.; 31(1):81-83. 1993. WR 236

**Williamson, D. T.** HABITAT SELECTION BY RED LECHWE (KOBUS LECHE LECHE GRAY, 1850). Afr. J. Ecol.; 28(2):89-101. 1990. In English with French summ. WR 221

**Williamson, D. T.** SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND ORGANIZATION OF RED LECHWE IN THE LINYANTI SWAMP. Afr. J. Ecol.; 32(2):130-141. 1994. In English with French summ. WR 244

**Wirtz, Peter** MULTIPLE COPULATIONS IN THE WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS. . Z. Tierpsychol.; 61(1):78-82. Jan. 1983. In English with German summ. WR 189

**Wirtz, P.** and Petra Kaiser SEX DIFFERENCES AND SEASONAL VARIATION IN HABITAT CHOICE IN A HIGH DENSITY POPULATION OF WATERBUCK, KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (BOVIDAE). Z. Saeugetierkd.; 53(3):162-169. 1988. In English with German summ. WR 211

**Wirtz, Peter** TERRITORIAL DEFENCE AND TERRITORY TAKE-COVER BY SATELLITE MALES IN THE WATERBUCK KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS (BOVIDAE). Behav.Ecol. Sociobiol.; 8(2):161-162. Apr. 1981. WR 182

**Wirtz, Peter** TERRITORY HOLDERS, SATELLITE MALES AND BACHELOR MALES IN A HIGH DENSITY POPULATION OF WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS) AND THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH CONSPECIFICS. Z. Tierpsychol.; 58(4):277-300. Apr. 1982. In English with German summ. WR 186

**Wirtz, P.** and G. Oldekop TIME BUDGETS OF WATERBUCK (KOBUS ELLIPSIPRYMNUS) OF DIFFERENT AGE, SEX AND SOCIAL STATUS. Z. Saeugetierkd.; 56(1):48-58. 1991. In English with German summ. WR 224

**Woodall, P. F.** WATER CONSERVATION REQUIREMENTS AND THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FAECAL PELLET WEIGHT AND BODY WEIGHT OF AFRICAN ANTELOPE. Afr. J. Ecol.; 33(2):172. 1995. WR 251

**Woodall, P. F.** and J. D. Skinner MORPHOLOGY OF INTESTINAL VILLI IN AFRICAN ANTELOPE (ARTIODACTYLA: BOVIDAE). J. Anat.; 184(3):519-525. 1994. WR 244

**Woodall, P. F**. and J. D. Skinner DIMENSIONS OF THE INTESTINE, DIET AND FAECAL WATER LOSS IN SOME AFRICAN ANTELOPE. J. Zool. (Lond.); 229(3):457-471. 1993. WR 242

**Woodford, M.H.**; Rossiter, P.B. Disease risks associated with wildlife translocation projects. Office International des Epizooties, Paris. Revue Scientifique et Technique; 12(1):115-135.; Issue has separate title: Sante et gestion desBerry, Phil MORE RED-BILLED OXPECKERS ON WATERBUCK. Zambian Ornithol. Soc. Newsl.; 22(7):80. 1992. WR 232 mammiferes en liberte / Health and management of free-ranging mammals / Salud y gestion de los mamiferos en libertad (Deuxieme Partie - Part Two - Segunda Parte); 1993

**Wrangham, Richard W.** FEMALE CHOICE OF LEAST COSTLY MALES; A POSSIBLE FACTOR IN THE EVOLUTION OF LEKS. Z. Tierpsychol.; 54(4):357-367. 1980. In English with German summ. WR 182